NORTH MINING SHARES COMPANY LIMITED
LtHEERBERAE

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(PEREIMRZZBRAF)
(Stock Code B S5 : 433)

2023

Annual Report ik




Contents H %

Corporate Information

Management Discussion and Analysis
Biographical Details of Directors
Report of the Directors

Corporate Governance Report
Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of Financial Information

NAEE
EEE R L DM
EERE
EFEERE
LERERAME
A% BUAD 3R

%

R MBI RK
RARmEgHER
HFAEReERER
RAe M mAR M
AR E

]]

i)

EE&E@%@W

16

19

31

43

54

55

57

167




Corporate Information
AEEHR

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Yang Ying Min (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Qian Yi Dong (Deputy Chairman)

Huang Zhidan

(appointed with effect from 29 November 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Shek Man Ho (appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Shen Ming Jie (appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

Feng Jia Wei (appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ho Wing Yan

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE
Yang Ying Min

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Shek Man Ho (Chairman)
(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

Shen Ming Jie (appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

Feng Jia Wei (appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Shen Ming Jie (Chairman)
(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Feng Jia Wei (appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Qian Yi Dong

AUDITORS
Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

2

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2023

EE

BITES

BRRE (XERITHAR)
#B—R (BEE)

B35S

(RZZE—=F+—A=Zt+LHEZE)

BYFHTES

EXE (R-B-ZFNA-tABEZE)
HBAR (R-F-=FAA-+NLBEERME)
BEE (R-F-=FAA-+NLBEEME)

DNRME
fa] 3k iR

REAR

BERR

BEREES

BXE ()
(R=Z-=FNA-+NBEZM)

HEAR (R-F-=FAA-TNLBEEME)

BERE (R-T-=FAA-+ABEZE)

FEES

LB (EE)
(R-ZZ-_=FhLhA-t+HLhBEZET)

BEE (R_BE-=FAA-+HLAEZE)

7B

BB
BLTERRAMEETERA A
e E]



Corporate Information
AEEHR

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 2004-05, 20/F

Kwan Chart Tower

6 Tonnochy Road

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

4th Floor North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited

17th Floor

Far East Finance Centre

No. 16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

SHARE INFORMATION
Stock code: 433
(The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited)

WEBSITE

www.northmining.com.hk

2B ER
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

AREERTEEXBE

&

B F

M2 B
HRRNE
20182004-05%

FERMBFERE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

EEROBFETIRE

FEZERERAA
&7

B R E165
RE D EAE D

1718

k5 &
BeA3 K3 - 433
(EBBARFHERAT)

49 31t

www.northmining.com.hk

tFEERHBERAT 2023 3R



Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR D

OVERALL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$1,533,714,000, representing an increase
of approximately 18.37% as compared with last corresponding year of
approximately HK$1,295,666,000. The revenue was mainly attribute
to the Group’s chemical trading operation, as there was no operation
performed and no revenue generated from mining operation during the
year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$1,632,535,000 (2022: loss of approximately HK$162,643,000),
representing an increase in loss of approximately 9 times as compared
with last corresponding year. The increase in loss was mainly due to (i)
the impairment loss on mining rights, property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and goodwill of approximately HK$51.56 million,
HK$31.61 million, HK$149,000 and HK$13.40 million respectively; and (i)
recognised a loss on debt restructuring of approximately HK$1.34 billion.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal profit generation activities of the Group are: (i) mining operations
— exploitation and exploration of mineral resources; and (i) chemical trading
operations — manufacturing and sale of chemical products. An analysis of
each of these business segments is presented below:

Mining Operations — Exploitation and Exploration of

Mineral Resources

Molybdenum Mine

The Group’s mining operation mainly includes the exploitation, exploration
and production of molybdenum concentrate in the PRC. Our molybdenum
concentrate was produced by the molybdenum mine operated by
Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiu Long Kuang Ye Company Limited
(“Jiu Long Kuang Ye”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. The
grading of molybdenum concentrate produced by our molybdenum mine
was approximately 45%-50%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR D

The mining licence has been successfully renewed and the renewed
licence, which is valid up to 22 February 2034, has been granted by the
Ministry of Natural Resources of the PRC and issued to the Company on
10 February 2023. The mining licence is the major licence required for the
Group to conduct its mining activities of its molybdenum mine.

The management of the Group will continue to work closely with the
government authorities to complete the grant of other ancillary licences for
the mine (i.e., Safety Production Licence). The Group cooperates closely
with the Shaanxi Provincial Emergency Management Department of PRC,
follows the policies and guidance of relevant government departments,
and completes the construction requirements of the government
departments as soon as possible. In the opinion of the directors, the
mining operation of the Group will be able to resume full operation within
second half of 2024.

During the year under review, no molybdenum concentrate products were
produced due to Jiu Long Kuang Ye still need time to be granted the
Safety Production Licence and would resume exploitation and production
activities after renew this licence. During the year under review, the mining
operation did not contribute revenue (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$221,332,000) to the Group and the Group did not recognise an
amortisation of mining rights cost.

Performance of mining operation

The operation of Jiu Long Kuang Ye has been hindered due to the
financial difficulty of the Group and the expiry of the mining licence of the
molybdenum mine. However, Jiu Long Kuang Ye has been spending
strenuous effort in renewing the relevant mining licence, and the relevant
governmental department has also confirmed in April 2022 that all
outstanding fees as well as information required for the renewal of the
mining licence has already been paid/provided by Jiu Long Kuang Ye.

Reference is made to the announcement dated 10 February 2023, the
mining licence has been successfully renewed and the renewed licence,
which is valid up to 22 February 2034, has been granted by the Ministry
of Natural Resources of the PRC and issued to the Company on 10
February 2023. The mining licence is the major licence required for the
Group to conduct its mining activities of its molybdenum mine.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR D

According to the management of Jiu Long Kuang Ye, it was understood
that there has been no material change for the relevant regulations and
standards required for the relevant operation of Jiu Long Kuang Ye and
therefore the mine and factories of Jiu Long Kuang Ye could readily
resume its operation and production once the Safety Production Licence
is granted.

Major assets in mining operation

As at 31 December 2023, the major assets included in the Group’s
mining operation were mining rights and property, plant and equipment
associated with the Group’s molybdenum mine of approximately
HK$1,279,188,000. At the end of the reporting period, the Group carried
out impairment assessment to assess whether the recoverable amounts
of the assets were below the carrying amount.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Directors hired an independent
professional valuation firm to assess the value in use of the Group’s
mining operation on yearly basis. The basis for assessing the value in use
was based on Discount Cash Flow (“DCF”) method. In the opinion of the
Directors, the adoption of DCF method is the best to reflect the value
in use of the Group’s mining operation. During the year under review,
there was no change in the valuation method used and the Directors
have consensus to adopt a consistent valuation methodology and
accounting policy in accounting for such mining operation over time given
that no fundamental changes in the mining industry and such external
environment will occur.

Based on the assessment of the value in use, an impairment loss
on mining right and property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$51.56 million and HK$30.82 million respectively have been provided
in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023. In the opinion of the Directors, the impairment loss was mainly due
to resumption of production timetable has been postponed, and Jiu Long
Kuang Ye would resume its operation and production once the Safety
Production Licence is granted.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR D

Chemical trading operations

The Group’s chemical trading operations mainly includes manufacturing
and sale of chemical products in the PRC. Our chemical products were
produced by Anhui Tongxi New Material Technology Company Limited, a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group’s revenue generated from chemical trading
operation was approximately HK$1,533,714,000 (2022: approximately
HK$1,074,334,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the major assets included in the Group’s
chemical trading operation were property, plant and equipment and
Right-of-use assets of total approximately HK$112,454,000. At the end
of the reporting period, the Group carried out impairment assessment to
assess whether the recoverable amounts of the assets were below the
carrying amount.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Directors hired an independent
professional valuation firm to assess the value in use of the Group’s
chemical operation on yearly basis. The basis for assessing the value in
use was based on Discount Cash Flow (“DCF”) method. In the opinion of
the Directors, the adoption of DCF method is the best to reflect the value
in use of the Group’s chemical operation. During the year under review,
there was no change in the valuation method used and the Directors have
consensus to adopt a consistent valuation methodology and accounting
policy in accounting for such chemical operation over time given that
no fundamental changes in the mining industry and such external
environment will occur.

Based on the assessment of the value in use, an impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$790,000 and HK$149,000 respectively have been provided in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.
In the opinion of the Directors, the impairment loss was mainly due to
(i) continue loss for the year; and (i) low gross profit rate which was
approximately 6.03% (2022: approximately 8.3%).

tERBEEXEK

AEENTEMEBXEB T ZOEATEH
EREELCER - RANLELEERBAAEARF
WIEZEMNBRAZERALIMBREER
NEIEE  RBE-_E-_=F+-A=+—
BIEFE  AEELCLERESEHFELENK
= A #91,533,7140008 L (ZZEZZF + 4
1,074,334,000/8 7C) °

R-_ZT-_=%+_A=+—0 A&£EE/(|E
REEEBNIEZELEECREDE  BEER
R A E®£4112,454,0008 7T ° B
REHKR  AEEETREFGUNTEEE
WAKESERTERKREE -

RREAANE  EFERBUEEGHER
ARFEREEFGHAKBECIRK 2ERAE
B FHEEREEZEERERBRARER
E([MBERERE])E - EZRB - KW
MRBAEREERERRAKEECIERK 2
ERAEE RNEEFE MEAMBEZERL
BEY MEF-HRAE - ZEIBEBER
BRNHREBTELRERNES - M Z
CEIXBRAEM R 2EHEETEESFTR
o

REHEREENTME  WE - BEER
1% R {E i E E R EE B 5 5l £9790,0007%
7T K149,0008 TEREBE T _=F+=_ A
ST BUEFEZRAVERERR - £F
RE - BEEBIZERARIAFERES
B RMEFNEEK - H9KE603% (ZT ==
F 1 #8.3%) o

B ERGERAT 2028 £/ 7



Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR D

PROSPECTS
As we enter 2024, our Group is striving to build resilience in a time of
uncertainty.

The economic outlook remains uncertain in 2024. Global economies
will continue to face multiple macroeconomic headwinds, including
geopolitical uncertainties, inflation and tightened financial conditions.
Many industries are still plagued by supply chain issues that emerged
in recent years. Ongoing inflation and subdued economic growth are
expected. In order to combat this, our Group aims to improve our
resilience in through strategic management, development and expansion
of our two core businesses as well as building protective measures into
supply chains to deal with shortages and rising business costs.

For mining operation, the Group has successful renewed the mining
licence of molybdenum mine and will further invest in and upgrade the
mining operation machine system in production to improve the production
efficiency, safety and environmental level. For chemical operation,
through research and development and additional production facilities,
we continue to improve our product quality and increase our product
competitiveness.

The Group will continue to be receptive to the market’s views candidly
and humbly. It will endeavor to maintain effective communication with
stakeholders. As a way to gauge capital markets’ perception of the
Group, we will continue to improve the quality of investor relations
management and will ponder on investors’ concerns and advices in
order to further enhance the Group’s operating management and
cooperate governance. The investor relations department will maintain
professionalism at its work so that capital markets will be able to gain a
thorough understanding of the Group’s business. This will help unlock the
potential investment value and contribute to the long term and healthy
development of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR D

Molybdenum market

The operation environment of China’s steel industry is the key factor
that affects the development of the country’s molybdenum market. As
required by China’s environmental protection policy and supply-side
reform policy, steel factories have no alternative but to transform and shift
to produce high quality special steel. Meanwhile, the normalization of fall/
winter production restriction will further accelerate the enhancement and
reconstruction of the steel industry, there are still ample room to increase
the production of stainless steel and high strength steel. All the factors
stated above will further drive up the demand for molybdenum, and it was
expected that the demand for molybdenum in China will keep increasing.
It was expected that the molybdenum market would continue to improve
in 2024.

The Group will make every endeavor to keep abreast of the changing
market conditions, to proactively identify investment opportunities and
expand its mineral resources in order to broaden the revenue base of the
Group, enhance its future financial performance and profitability, and fine
tune its business strategies when appropriate. Moreover, the Group is
seeking for further operating efficiency for its business. We are confident
in the future prospect and committed to the continuous growth of the
Company.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated cash
flow and proceeds from suitable source of funding. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group recorded a cash outflow of approximately
HK$6,275,000 (2022: outflow of approximately HK$496,000) which
was mainly due to increase in cash outflow from operating activities
during the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group had outstanding bank loans and other borrowings at the
amount of approximately HK$696,948,000 (2022: approximately
HK$1,342,265,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current ratio was approximately
0.17 (2022: approximately 0.12). The increase in current ratio was mainly
due to the success of the debts restructuring exercise to be carried out
which involve the conversion of other payables, other borrowings and
corporate bond into share of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s debt to equity ratio was
approximately 52.44 (2022: approximately 2.66). The increase in debt to
equity ratio was mainly due the success of the debts restructuring as said
above and the success of the Capital Reorganisation (as defined below).
Reference is made to the announcement dated 29 September 2023 and
the circular dated 13 June 2023 (the “Circular”). The ratio was calculated
by dividing the total liabilities of approximately HK$2,096,113,000 (2022:
approximately HK$3,523,078,000) by equity attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately deficit HK$39,972,000 (2022: approximately
deficit HK$1,326,499,000). It is confident that the Group would have
adequate financial resources to satisfy full repayment of the current
liabilities.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

Capital Structure

The Group’s capital structure as at 31 December 2023 mainly comprised
of current assets of approximately HK$321,732,000 (2022: approximately
HK$407,052,000), current liabilities of approximately HK$1,842,120,000
(2022: approximately HK$3,261,215,000) and equity attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately deficit HK$39,972,000
(2022: approximately deficit HK$1,326,499,000). Current assets
mainly comprised of (i) cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$5,941,000 (2022: approximately HK$11,344,000); (i) inventories of
approximately HK$156,176,000 (2022: approximately HK$271,949,000);
(iii) Trade and bill receivables of approximately HK$116,001,000 and
(iv) prepayments, deposits and other receivables of approximately
HK$43,614,000 (2022: approximately HK$114,291,000). Current liabilities
mainly comprised of (i) bank loans and other borrowings of approximately
HK$669,415,000 (2022: approximately HK$1,325,375,000); (i) trade and
bill payables of approximately HK$373,998,000 (2022: approximately
HK$286,444,000); and (i) other payables and accruals of approximately
HK$682,241,000 (including interest payables) (2022: approximately
HK$1,022,009,000).

Debenture and Bond Issued

Upon the maturity date of convertible bond in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$250,000,000 (“CB”) on 28 December 2018, the Group
entered into standstill deed in relation to turn into a Bond with a principal
amount of HK$250,000,000 at a price equal to 100% of its principal
amount to Sfund International, having made all reasonable enquires, an
independent third party of the Company.
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Sfund International was one of the creditors in the Creditor Scheme. Due
to the success of issuance of Scheme Shares on 29 September 2023,
the total amount of HK$250,000,000 and the interest payable were fully
conversion into shares under the Scheme. Reference is made to the
announcement dated 29 September 2023 and the Circular.

Treasury Policies

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the business activities of the
Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. It
is not considered that the Group is significantly exposed to any foreign
currency exchange risk. It is the Group’s treasury policy to manage its
foreign currency exposure whenever such financial impact is material to
the Group. For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
did not employ any financial instruments for hedging purpose and was
not engaged in foreign currency speculative activities.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWING AND

CHARGES OF GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank loans and other
borrowings in current liabilities and non-current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$696,948,000 (2022: HK$1,342,265,000). As at 31
December 2023, the Group’s interest bearing bank loans and other
borrowings were carried at effective interest rates from 6.09% to 15% per
annum and were secured by (i) guarantees from a subsidiary of the Group
and the subsidiary’s minority shareholders; (i) pledged property, plant
and equipment; (iii) pledged prepaid land lease; and (iv) pledged equity of
subsidiaries.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Company announced that on 19 January 2024, the Transferee,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
Equity Transfer Agreement with a vendor pursuant to which the vendor
conditionally agreed to transfer his equity interest of 51% of a target
company to the Transferee.

In respect of the Equity Transfer Agreement, all the conditions precedent
of the Equity Transfer Agreement have been fulfilled and completion took
place on 28 March 2024.

Reference is made to the announcements dated 19 January 2024 and 28
March 2024.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION

POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 659 full time employees
(2022: 708 employees). Employees’ remuneration packages are generally
structured by reference to market norms, individual qualifications, relevant
experience and performance.

DIVIDEND

No dividend is recommended for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2023.

WINDING UP OF THE COMPANY BY THE COURT

On 16 May 2022, the Company was ordered to be wound up by the
High Court of Hong Kong and the Official Receiver by virtue of her office
becomes the Provisional Liquidator of the Company.

Pursuant to an Order dated 18 July 2022 granted by the Hong Kong
Court of First Instance, Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr. Tsui Chi Chiu of
Ernst & Young Transactions Limited of 27/F One Taikoo Place, 979 King’s
Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong SAR were appointed as the Joint and
Several Liquidators of the Company (the “Joint and Several Liquidators”).

On 27 September 2022, the Company has submitted a resumption
proposal (the “Resumption Proposal”) to the Stock Exchange to
seek resumption of trading of the Shares. The Resumption Proposal,
sets out, actions taken and proposed to be taken by the Company
to fulfill the resumption conditions, including among other things, (i)
details of the reorganization of the capital of the Company by way of
share consolidation, capital reduction, share sub-division and share
premium reduction (the “Capital Reorganisation”); (ii) injection of funds
by way of subscription of Shares by the investor, Huatune Corporation;
(iii) application of whitewash waiver to The Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong; (iv) the business plan for the Group’s
compliance with rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules; and (v) implementation of
the schemes of arrangement to be entered into between the Company
and its creditors under Part 13 of the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, subject to any modification, addition
or condition approved or imposed by the High Court of Hong Kong.
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APPLICATION AND GRANT FOR STAY OF WINDING
UP ORDER

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 August
20283, at the Creditors’ meeting held on 28 August 2023, the Scheme
was approved by the requisite statutory majorities of the Creditors.
On 15 September 2023, the High Court has granted an order (the
“Sanction Order”) to approve and sanction the Scheme. The Company
will arrange for the Sanction Order to be delivered to and registered with
the Companies Registry of Hong Kong. Subject to the fulfillment of the
condition precedents to the Scheme, the Scheme shall become effective.

At the hearing at the High Court on 25 September 2023, the Court
has given a conditional order to permanently stay the winding up order
and proceedings against the Company, subject to the fulfilment of
the conditions precedent to the Restructuring Transactions and that
Completion has taken place.

() ISSUANCE OF INVESTOR’S SUBSCRIPTION
SHARES AND SCHEME SHARES UNDER
SPECIFIC MANDATE; (Il) FULFILMENT
OF RESUMPTION GUIDANCE; AND (liI)
RESUMPTION OF TRADING
() Issuance of Investor’s Subscription Shares

and Scheme Shares

On 29 September 2023, all the conditions precedent of
both the Investor’s Subscription and the Scheme have
been fulfilled. A total of 256,410,256 New Shares have
been allotted and issued to the Investor at the Subscription
Price of HK$0.156 per New Share. The gross proceeds
of HK$40,000,000 from the Investor’s Subscription will
be applied in the manner as disclosed in the paragraph
headed “6. Reasons for and benefits of the entering into of
the Restructuring Agreement and the use of proceeds” in
the Circular. Another total of 11,086,710,827 New Shares
have been allotted and issued to the Scheme Company,
which shall hold the Scheme Shares on trust for the benefit
of the Creditors pending adjudication of the claims and
determination of all Admitted Claims and distribution of the
Scheme Shares to the relevant Creditors.
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(1) Fulfilment of Resumption Guidance

a)

publish all outstanding financial results required under
the Listing Rules have been published and the audit
modifications have been addressed.

The Company considers that it has a sufficient size of
operation and assets to maintain its listing under Rule
13.24 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has from time to time published
announcements to disclose the information, financial
results and resumption progress update to the
Shareholders and potential investors.

At the hearing at the High Court on 25 September
2023, the Court has given a conditional order to
permanently stay the winding up order and proceedings
against the Company, subject to the fulfilment of the
conditions precedent to the Restructuring Transactions
and that Completion has taken place (the “Order”).

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement
dated 12 September 2023 in relation to the appointments
of three independent non-executive Directors (the
“Appointments”) subject to the permanent stay of the
winding up order and proceedings of the Company. As
the Order has been granted and the Completion has
taken place, the Appointments have taken effective
simultaneously upon Completion.

(1) As all the Resumption Guidance as said above have been
fulfilled, the Company has made an application to the Stock

Exchange for the resumption of trading in the Shares with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 3 October 2023 on the Stock
Exchange.
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CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this

announcement, the following changes in the composition of the board of
the Company (the “Board”) and Board committees took place:

M

(i)

(i)

v)

Mr. Huang Zhidan has been appointed as an executive director
with effect from 29 November 2023.

Mr. Shek Man Ho has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of each of the Audit Committee
and the Financial Reporting Committee and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee with effect from 29 September
2023.

Mr. Shen Ming Jie has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Corporate Governance Committee and the
Financial Reporting Committee with effect from 29 September
2023.

Mr. Feng Jia Wei has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Financial Reporting Committee with effect from 29 September
2028.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Ying Min (“Mr. Yang”), aged 55, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 25 August 2014 and was
subsequently appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 22 September in the same year. He was appointed as the Chairman
of the Board of the Company on 4 January 2016. Mr. Yang graduated
from Peoples Public Security University of China with a Bachelor of Laws
LL.B.. After graduation, he worked in Xian Municipal government, Shaanxi
Province, China. In 2010, he joined Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiu
Long Kuang Ye Company Limited (“Jiu Long Kuang Ye”), the Company’s
subsidiary, as deputy managing director. In 2012, he was appointed as
chairman of Jiu Long Kuang Ye. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in
management and legal affairs relevant to mining industry.

Mr. Qian Yi Dong (“Mr. Qian”), aged 39, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 15 March 2011 and was then appointed as
the Deputy Chairman of the Board on 21 April 2011. He is a member of
the Remuneration Committee. He is also currently a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Qian graduated from Beijing Normal
University Zhuhai majored in electronic commerce.

Mr. Shen Jian, aged 38, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 9 November 2021. Mr. Shen Jian obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Supply Chain Management with Logistics from Shanghai
Maritime University in 2008. He has over 10 years’ extensive experience
in international trade and logistics management services.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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Mr. Huang Zhidan (“Mr. Huang”), aged 57, postgraduate degree in
economic management from GuangDong Academy of Social Sciences in
2002, he has in-depth knowledge and experience in corporate finance.
He is the board chairman of SFund International Investment Fund
Management Limited (“SFund International”) and the chief operational
oficer of EME XK E E £ &1 H R 2 7 (Guangzhou Industrial
Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd*), the substantial shareholder of
SFund International, both since September 2021. SFund International was
one of the creditors under the scheme of arrangement of the Company
which would become a shareholder of the Company pursuant to the
terms of the scheme of arrangement.

Prior to joining SFund International, Mr. Huang was a party committee
member and vice president of China Zheshang Bank Guangzhou Branch
from June 2015 to September 2020. From July 2022 to July 2023, Mr.
Huang worked as an executive director for Magnus Concordia Group
Limited (Stock Code: 1172).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Shek Man Ho (“Mr. Shek”), aged 39, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 September
2023. He was appointed as the chairman of each of the Audit Committee
and the Financial Reporting Committee, and a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee respectively since 29 September 2023. Mr. Shek
has obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting from
the Hong Kong Metropolitan University in 2009. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

From September 2020 to February 2022, he worked as a financial
controller for China Zenith Chemical Group Limited (Stock Code: 0362).
Since February 2022, he has been working as a financial controller for
Graphex Group Limited (Stock Code: 6128). Mr. Shek has extensive
experience in the field of auditing, accounting and financial management
matters for over 10 years.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEERE

Mr. Shen Ming Jie, aged 38, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 29 September 2023. He was
appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Corporate Governance Committee and the Financial Reporting
Committee respectively since 29 September 2023. Mr. Shen Ming Jie has
obtained a Master degree in Law from Panthéon-Assas University Paris
Il. He has served as the person in charge of the legal and/or compliance
department in several listed companies in the People’s Republic of China
and state-owned enterprises. He is currently working as a practicing
lawyer in Shanghai Shentuo Law Firm. Mr. Shen Ming Jie has extensive
experience in protecting shareholders rights and resolving commercial
disputes and has represented clients in litigation and arbitration
proceedings in numerous significant cases.

Mr. Feng Jia Wei (“Mr. Feng”), aged 31, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 September
2023. He was appointed as the chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Financial
Reporting Committee respectively since 29 September 2023. Mr. Feng
has obtained a Master degree in law from Shanghai Normal University.
He has previously served as in-house counsel for a Fortune 500 company
and is currently working as a practicing lawyer in Shanghai Shenjie Law
Firm. Mr. Feng has extensive experience in resolving civil and commercial
disputes and real estate compliance.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

The Directors of the Company present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are (i) investment holdings; (i) mining
operations — exploitation and exploration of mineral resources; and (jij) chemical
trading operations.

An analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
material factors underlying its results and financial position and material
attributable factors of the development and likely future developments
of the Group’s business, are provided throughout this Annual Report,
particularly in the following separate sections:

(@  Review of the Group’s business — “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 4 to 15;

(b)  The principal risks and uncertainties the Group is facing — “Report
of the Directors” on pages 19 to 30;

(c)  Future development in the Group’s business — “Management

Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 15;

(d)  Analysis using financial key performance indicators — and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 15 and
“Summary of Financial Information” on pages 169 to 170;

(e) Discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations — “Report of the Directors” on pages 19 to 30 and
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 31 to 42; and

(4] An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others — “Report of the Directors” on
pages 19 to 30.

ARAREEFREERENAEHERE_ZF
TZFT A=+ HUEFEZRERYE
wE -

FTEEK
REBZFEEBROREER ()5
% - HAERDREEER: RiMtZ2REE
ES A

S
oy 5
W e

AEBRANYRFEAZTEEBREB
Bz MBERES P HHRRMES -

KB OE
ERYAKREEBNFTERE  URAEE
REBEE_FT_=ZF+_A=1+—HLEFEHN
KB WREXGERVBERANEERER
RHAGENEBERERARERNERZR
ENRARIN - ERAFRITR IO KE -
LEFHN AT E R Z &

@ AEBEXBKEE - FHRFEI4EEI5EZ
(BB WA

b) AEEEHZIZRBRETEEME -
HNFE19OAEENAEZ [EFTEHE]

© AEEEBHNAKRER - BNXNFL4AE
15EZ [EEEHNm RO

o ERMBIBRAERETOIN -
HNFAER18 2 [BEEEN® R
ME1BOEIT0E Z [MBEE R 2]

© FAWAEEEEREIERIERNARE
N — BREI9EE0ELY [EFERE ]
NREINEERAEZ [EEERBRE]
K

H ROLAEERERE TP - HERD

REMATWNEZBAE — N F198
EEZ [EFEHE] -

SFBRERGBEBRLRF 2023 F8% 19



Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Although we have established the risk management system to identify,

analyse, evaluate and respond to risks, our business activities are subject

to the following risks, which could have material effects on our strategy,

operations, compliance and financial condition. We urge you to carefully

consider the risks described below:

20

Economic Environment Risks

Affected by current macro-economy and policies at Mainland
China and abroad, the business of mining operations, property
management operations and chemical trading operations where
the Company operates exits many risks and uncertainties.

To cope with such risks, the Company made thorough research
and analysis on macro-economy, government policies, industrial
development, intensified market analysis and judgement and
adopted corresponding actions against potential risks. It
accelerated restructuring, transformation and upgrading, thus
cultivating new profit growth and enhancing its comprehensive
competitiveness and anti-risk capabilities.

Market Price Risks

The sharp fluctuation of molybdenum concentrate and chemical
products price mainly reflects the change in supply and demand of
molybdenum products and chemical products, market uncertainty
and other factors out of control of the Group, including but not
limited to the overall economic situation, political unrest, economic
condition, availability of other metals, regulations of governments
both at Mainland China and abroad, natural disasters and weather
conditions. Price fluctuation will have a material impact on the
business, cash flow and revenue of the Group.

To cope with the risk, the Company intensifies prudent judgement
on the market, fully brings about the effect of supervision and
control over market price risk and alert thereof, continuously
improves its risk control capability in market price and constantly
strengthens production costs and expenses control.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

3. Safety and Environmental Risks

Stringent requirements in relation to safe production and
environmental protection ability for a company have been stipulated
in the Production Safety Law of People’s Republic of China and the
Environmental Protection Law of People’s Republic of China. As
the Company’s mining operation mainly includes the exploitation
and production of molybdenum concentrate, any safety or
environmental accident will inflict huge losses on the reputation and
assets of the Company.

To cope with the risk, the Company keeps improving management
rules, assigns responsibilities and further strengthens supervision
and examination in terms of safety and environmental protection.
It screens relevant hazards, takes preventive measures; constantly
increases awareness among enterprises and all employees in the
aspects of on-site management and safety and environmental
protection management by providing more training courses. It
also allocates more funds with a view to upgrade and reconstruct
technology and equipment, constantly promotes energy saving and
reduction of emissions.

4. Financial Risks
Details of financial risks are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Environmental policies performance

The Group has taken initiatives to reduce energy consumption and
encourage recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group will
continue to review and promote its environmental policies.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied
in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group. During
the year under review, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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Relationship with employees and customers

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees and customers to meet its business goals. During the
year under review, there were no significant dispute between the Group
and its employees and customers.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2023 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 50 to 168.

The cashflows of the Group are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 55 to 56.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the Group’s single largest customer and
supplier accounted for approximately 11% (2022: 8%) and 7% (2022: 7%)
respectively, of the Group’s total operating revenue and cost of sales. The
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers accounted for approximately
39% (2022: 30%) and 26% (2022: 26%) of the Group’s total operating
revenue and cost of sales respectively.

At no time during the year had the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 54.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Details of the amount of the Company’s reserve distributable to
shareholders as at 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year
are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

The particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2023 are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN THE INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of
information of Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up
to the date of this report are set out below:

Mr. Huang Zhidan was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 29 November 2023.

Mr. Shek Man Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of each of the Audit Committee and the Financial
Reporting Committee and a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee respectively with effect from 29 September 2023.

Mr. Shen Ming Jie was appointed as an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Corporate
Governance Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee
respectively with effect from 29 September 2023.

Mr. Feng Jia Wei was appointed as an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee
respectively with effect from 29 September 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yang Ying Min (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Qian Yi Dong (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Huang Zhidan
(appointed with effect from 29 November 2023)
Mr. Shen Jian

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Shek Man Ho

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Shen Ming Jie

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Feng Jia Wei

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

DIRECTORS RETIRING BY ROTATION

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws 84(1) and 84(2), Mr. Yang and Mr.
Shen Jian shall retire as Director by rotation at the annual general meeting
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than
normal statutory obligations.

The Directors’ remuneration for the financial year is set out in Note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company, or any of their respective associates, had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN

SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, according to the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, and so far as was known to the
Directors or chief executive of the Company, the following persons had,
or was deemed or taken to have, an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company:
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Ms. So Kit Yee Anita Scheme Administrator 11,086,710,827 88.61%
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Mr. Leung Fredric Hin Hang Scheme Administrator 11,086,710,827 88.61%
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Luck Capital Limited Scheme Company 11,086,710,827 88.61%
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Note: M aE -
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scheme creditors, the Company transferred 11,086,710,827 issued ordinary
shares to the scheme company (i.e. Luck Capital Limited) on 29 September
2023. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr. Leung Fredric Hin Hang are the joint and
several administrators of the scheme.
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company were not aware of any persons who, as at 31 December 2023,
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO and/or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of the issued share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries
was a party, in which a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the
end of the year under review or at any time during the year under review.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to the authorization of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The remuneration
of the Directors is subject to review by the Remuneration Committee,
and their remuneration is determined with reference to the Directors’
qualifications, experience, duties, responsibilities and performance and
results of the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions during the financial year are set
out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors believe that none of the Directors and their respective
associates had an interest, directly or indirectly, in a business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that each Director or other officers of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of relevant
legal actions against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for convertible bonds and share option scheme of the Company,
no equity linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-
laws or the law of Bermuda.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
share capital were held by members of the public as at the date of this
report.
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() ISSUANCE OF INVESTOR’S SUBSCRIPTION

SHARES AND SCHEME SHARES UNDER SPECIFIC

MANDATE; (ii) FULFILMENT OF RESUMPTION
GUIDANCE; AND (iii) RESUMPTION OF TRADING

(i) Issuance of Investor’s Subscription Shares and Scheme Shares
On 29 September 2023, all the conditions precedent of both the
Investor’s Subscription and the Scheme have been fulfilled. A
total of 256,410,256 New Shares have been allotted and issued
to the Investor at the Subscription Price of HK$0.156 per New
Share. The gross proceeds of HK$40,000,000 from the Investor’s
Subscription will be applied in the manner as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “6. Reasons for and benefits of the entering into
of the Restructuring Agreement and the use of proceeds” in the
Circular. Another total of 11,086,710,827 New Shares have been
allotted and issued to the Scheme Company, which shall hold the
Scheme Shares on trust for the benefit of the Creditors pending
adjudication of the claims and determination of all Admitted Claims

and distribution of the Scheme Shares to the relevant Creditors.

(i) Fulfilment of Resumption Guidance

(@  publish all outstanding financial results required under the
Listing Rules have been published and the audit modifications

have been addressed.

(b)  The Company considers that it has a sufficient size of
operation and assets to maintain its listing under Rule 13.24

of the Listing Rules.

() The Company has from time to time published announcements
to disclose the information, financial results and resumption
progress update to the Shareholders and potential investors.

(d) At the hearing at the High Court on 25 September 2023, the
Court has given a conditional order to permanently stay the
winding up order and proceedings against the Company,
subject to the fulfilment of the conditions precedent to the
Restructuring Transactions and that Completion has taken

place (the “Order”).
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(e)  Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated
12 September 2023 in relation to the appointments of three
independent non-executive Directors (the “Appointments”)
subject to the permanent stay of the winding up order and
proceedings of the Company. As the Order has been granted
and the Completion has taken place, the Appointments have
taken effective simultaneously upon Completion.

(iii) As all the Resumption Guidance as said above have been fulfilled,
the Company has made an application to the Stock Exchange for
the resumption of trading in the Shares with effect from 9:00 a.m.
on 3 October 2023 on the Stock Exchange.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 169 and 170 of this annual
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Shek Man Ho, Mr. Shen Ming Jie and Mr. Feng
Jia Wei. The purpose of the establishment of the audit committee
is for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the Group’s financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS

Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) was appointed as auditors of the
Company in 2012, and then retired and was re-appointed at the
Company’s annual general meeting from 2012 to 2023.

Elite will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment as
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite as auditors of the Company B RIBEF TEZ AR A TZEAM 2 IRHER

will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. BREEREAFAGIRE -

On behalf of the Board REESE

Yang Ying Min EEESTE

Chairman of the Board BRER

Hong Kong, 31 March 2024 BEE  ZEZHWFE=A=+—H
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is crucial to improve
the efficiency and performance of the Group and to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company had applied
the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Code, except the following code provisions:

1. Under the code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Yang Ying Min, being the chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company, has in-depth knowledge and considerable
experience in the Group’s business, and is responsible for
the overall strategic planning and general management of the
Group. It was considered that vesting the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer in the same person will lead to consistent
leadership of the Group and enable the Group to make and
implement decisions promptly, thus achieving the Group’s
objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing
environment.

The Company has formulated a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) for
achieving diversity on the Board of the Company. The Policy enables
the sustainable and balanced development of the Company’s strategic
objectives. The Board reviewed the Policy annually to ensure the
effectiveness of the Palicy.

The Company considers that sufficient measures had been taken to
ensure that the Company complied with the Code for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Company will periodically review and improve its corporate
governance practices with reference to the latest development of relevant
corporate governance requirements.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the
Company confirmed that all directors had fully complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December
2023.

BOARD MEETING

The principal roles of the Board are to oversee the strategic development,
to determine the objectives, strategies and policies of the Group, to
monitor and control the financial performance and to ensure effective
internal controls and risk management. Implementation of strategies and
day-to-day operations are delegated to the management.

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. Schedules for
annual meeting and draft agenda of each meeting is sent to all Directors in
advance. Notice of at least 14 days is given for a regular Board meeting.
For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are dispatched to all Directors at least three days before each
regular Board meeting to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time
to review the related documents and be adequately prepared for the
meeting.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings, which record in
sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions reached, are kept
by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director. The Company’s Bye-laws
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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The following table shows the attendance of each individual member
of the Board and the respective Board Committees at the Board, the
respective Board Committees meetings, annual general meeting and
special general meeting held during the year ended 31 December 2023:

TERBETEZGREEFEZEG ZAMNK
BHERBE_T_=+-_A=+—81
FERIZEFEEE  SEFCLEgE
# BRRAFRSEREFI ARG 28

Corporate Financial

Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination ~ Governance Reporting Annual
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

ENZEE HMZEe REZEE  OLEER WBEE  RRAEE

EEpg Ezees g5 &5 &% ZBe8E ZEg%E b
Executive Directors UiTES

Yang Ying Min BER 88  naf@EA  nalTER 171 na™ER nalER 0A
Qian Yi Dong B-R 88  naliEf " nafER 33 33 17
Huang Zhidan (note 1) 58 (1) 08  nafER  naTEE  natER nafER neTER naTEA
Shen Jian ni 858  natEE  naltEE nalTER 33 33 0A
Independent Non-executive BUF4TES

Directors
Shek Man Ho (note 2) RXE (Wik2) 48 naTER  na™ER nefER neTER naTER netER
Shen Ming Jie (note 3) HIBA (F&3) 48 nalER 17 1 naTER  naTER nalER
Feng Jia Wei note 4) Bl () 38 nalER 17 " nafER  natER  nelER
Notes: Mo e -

(1) Mr. Huang Zhidan was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
29 November 2023.

) Mr. Shek Man Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
the chairman of each of the Audit Committee and the Financial Reporting
Committee and a member of the Corporate Governance Committee
respectively with effect from 29 September 2023.

) Mr. Shen Ming Jie was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Corporate Governance
Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee respectively with effect
from 29 September 2023.

(4) Mr. Feng Jia Wei was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee respectively with effect
from 29 September 2023.

Any Director may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable request
being made to the Board.

(1) EFAXLEZERWPTESRE BT _=
Fr—A-tTABEEHR -
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Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 12 September
2023 in relation to the appointments of three independent non-executive
Directors (the “Appointments”) subject to the permanent stay of the
winding up order and proceedings of the Company. As the Order has
been granted and the Completion has taken place, the Appointments
have taken effective simultaneously upon Completion. The Company has
appointed independent non-executive directors representing at least one-
third of the board.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the
Directors for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each of the newly appointed Directors has received a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and business and is fully aware of the Director’s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company
will from time to time fund and arrange suitable training to all Directors to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their duties
and responsibilities, such that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. All Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expense and they have been
requested to provide the Company with their training records. According
to the training records maintained by the Company, the continuing
professional development programmes received by each of the Directors
during the Year is summarised as follows:
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Name of Directors Type of training
EEHA EIEE
Mr. Yang Ying Min Aand B
BRERREE AX%B
Mr. Qian Yi Dong Aand B
=l Vv AKB
Mr. Huang Zhidan Aand B
BEENEAE AEB
Mr. Shen Jian Aand B
LR E AKB
Mr. Shek Man Ho Aand B
AXZEEE AKB
Mr. Shen Ming Jie Aand B
ISR TE AKB
Mr. Feng Jia Wei Aand B
BEEEE AEB
A: attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars, briefings, A Z2MEYEE AEELARRES%E - 5

conferences, forums and workshops

B: reading materials relating to the economy, general business, corporate
governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In compliance with the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws of the Company,
(i) all the non-executive Directors should be appointed for specific terms,
(i) all Directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and are eligible for re-election, and (iii) any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company and shall be subject to re-election at
such meeting.

He - 2% wEAKMSE

B: MEAMEE —MEH CEEANR
EERYRBE Y

ZEEREREE
BREMBAUARARG ZMEE - (ZXE2E
INTESEERETAYH  (2BEEER
LEZFHERT - RALESEREREBEMT
LI EEeR TN ERES SRS
RNESRBRITEESTAESTAHEEZAR
AR TEBRREAREG @ WEARZAG LERE
£ -

StFBERGEBRLR 2023 F8® 35



Corporate Governance Report

As 2 I \\
TEERBE

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board set up various board committees responsible for various
aspect of business of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established in May
2006. The members of the Remuneration Committee during the financial
year of 2023 were:

Mr. Qian Yi Dong
Mr. Shen Ming Jie (Chairman)

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Feng Jia Wei

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include setting
remuneration policy of the Group and fixing remuneration packages of the
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws. Details
of the remuneration paid to the respective Directors are set out in Note
12 to the financial statements. No Directors can determine their own
remuneration packages. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. The Remuneration Committee
has adopted terms of reference which are aligned with the Code. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee will report their findings and
recommendations to the Board for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee will meet at least once a year to discharge its
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting, the work performed included the followings:

a. discussing the policy for the remuneration of the Directors;

b. reviewing remuneration packages of the Directors;

(o} making recommendations to the Board on remuneration of the
non-executive Directors; and

d. proposed annual remuneration package of newly appointed
Directors to the Board.
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Audit Committee
The members of the Audit Committee during the financial year of 2023
were:

Mr. Shek Man Ho (Chairman)

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Shen Ming Jie

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Feng Jia Wei

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

The Audit Committee will meet no less than twice a year to review all
business affairs managed by the executive Directors and to review
the interim and annual financial statements of the Group before their
submission to the Board for approval and to review the effectiveness
of the financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has adopted terms of
reference which are aligned with the Code. A copy of the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee has been posted on the Company’s
website.

Corporate Governance Committee

In order to further strengthen the Company’s corporate governance,
the Company established the Corporate Governance Committee on 12
January 2008:

The members of the Corporate Governance Committee during the
financial year of 2023 were as follows:

Mr. Qian Yi Dong

(resigned effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Shen Jian

(resigned effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Shek Man Ho

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Shen Ming Jie

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Feng Jia Wei (Chairman)

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

The major responsibilities of the Corporate Governance Committee are to
oversee the Company’s corporate governance matters and to ensure that
the Company has complied with the Code. The Corporate Governance
Committee had reviewed the corporate governance report of the
Company and confirmed that the Company had complied with the Code
of the Listing Rules throughout the year except some deviations from the
Code mentioned in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practice”
of this report.
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Financial Reporting Committee

The Board, supported by the accounts department, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the Group.
The Company has also set up a Financial Reporting Committee which
major responsibility is to oversee the preparation of financial statements
of each financial period, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flow for that
year. The Financial Reporting Committee is also responsible to ensure
the compliance by the Group of disclosure requirements under the Listing
Rules in a timely manner.

The members of the Financial Reporting Committee during the financial
year of 2023 are as follows:

Mr. Qian Yi Dong

(resigned effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Shen Jian

(resigned effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Shek Man Ho (Chairman)

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Shen Ming Jie

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Feng Jia Wei

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

Nomination Function

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 29 September
2023, subject to the regulations contained in the Companies Law of
Bermuda, the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the bye-laws of
the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

The responsible for performing the nomination duties including:

a. reviewing the structure, size and diversity (including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board on
a regular basis (“Board Diversity Policy”);

b. formulating and adjusting the Board Diversity Policy and reviewing
the measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
from time to time;

(o} reviewing the candidates’ qualification and competence;

d. assessing the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors; and

e. making decision on appointment of Directors.
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The members of the Nomination Committee during the financial year of
2023 are as follows:

Mr. Yang Ying Min (Chairman)

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Shen Ming Jie

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)
Mr. Feng Jia Wei

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2023)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy (“‘Board Diversity Policy”)
in accordance with the requirement set out in the Code. Such policy aims
to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Accordingly,
all Board appointments shall be based on meritocracy, and candidates
shall be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates shall be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to, gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision shall be based on
merit and contribution could the selected candidates could bring to the
Board. The Board, from time to time, oversees the implementation of the
policy, and reviews, as appropriate, the policy to ensure the effectiveness
of the policy and continues to give adequate consideration to these
measurable objectives when making recommmendations of candidates for
appointment to the Board.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$1,000,000 (2022: HK$1,320,000)
was charged to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 for the auditing services provided by
Elite Partners CPA Limited. There was no non-audit service assignment
provided by Elite Partners CPA Limited during the year (2022: Nil).
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SHAREHOLDER'’S RIGHTS
Convening a Special General Meeting by

Shareholders

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58 of the Company, a special general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any shareholder
holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share capital of the
Company and the securities being held carrying the right of voting at any
general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall make a written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company at
the head office or principal place of business in Hong Kong, specifying
the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact details
and the proposal regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two (2)
months after the receipt of such written requisition. The Company shall
serve requisite notice of the general meeting, including the time, place of
meeting and particulars of resolutions to be considered at the meeting
and the general nature of the business. If within twenty-one (21) days
of the receipt of such written requisition, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such special general meeting, the shareholder shall do so
pursuant to the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act of
Bermuda.

The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the
Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at the Principal
Place of Business and the Company Secretary shall then forward the
same to the appropriate executives of the Company or members in the
Board for further handling.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the head office or principal place
of business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends
to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified transaction/
business and its supporting documents.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the
Board procedures are followed and the Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the Board
is fully appraised of the relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and facilitating the
induction and professional development of directors.

During the year under review, the company secretary has attended
relevant professional seminars to update her skills and knowledge. She
has complied with the relevant professional training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information to
shareholders in a timely manner. The Directors meet and communicate
with shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company. The
Chairman proposes separate resolutions for each issue to be considered
and put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. Voting
results are posted on the Company’s website on the day of annual
general meeting.

Our corporate website which contains corporate information, corporate
governance practice, interim and annual reports, announcements and
circulars issued by the Company enables the Company’s shareholders to
have timely and updated information of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the Group to
safeguard investments of the Shareholders and assets of the Group at all
times.
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The Board will conduct regular review regarding internal control and risk
management systems of the Group. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Board reviewed and discussed with the Group’s internal audit
team and the senior management on the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control systems including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management. The internal audit team
and the senior management further made recommendations to the Board
to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
statutory accounting and reporting requirements, legal and regulatory
requirements, internal rules and procedures approved by the Board, to
identify and manage potential risks of the Group. Besides, the Board will
also perform regular review on the Group’s performance and internal
control system in order to ensure effective measures are in place to
protect material assets and identify business risks of the Group.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board considered
the internal control and risk management system effective and adequate.
No significant areas of concern that might affect shareholders were

identified during the relevant period.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Ying Min
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 31 March 2024

42 North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2023

E=g TR ASEERDNBEG KRR
EBEE  BE-_ZEZ-_=F+-A=+—8
ItFE  EFeReEV5E - €EREGH
= K B B B ER TR N B AR R | A IR B HE I
EMAERMERESIMETRS T EAEBD
NI BN ERSREEBT® - NEETAE
BREEE#E - TRNESSHELEESR -
BRVBHREOTEERETERAEZT S
RERKBE EZEREERT - WAFE A
MEESHANIEF  UBILREEALE
BOBERR - o - EF@AEHKSIR
SENRBERANLIESNGE - BREEEN
T REEZEEERBAIAEENEBR

B o
REBEE_T-_=F+-A=+—BLFEm
T EFEERAANTEZEFLEREERENER
BHEM - NAEBEB I ARHR R AREE
(R EMNEAME -

KREFS

EFETE
BRE

BEF —E-_WNF=ZA=+—H



Independent Auditor’s Report
B B S

elite
< partners

To the Members of
North Mining Shares Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of North Mining
Shares Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 50 to 166, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1.3 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$1,759,872,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as
of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$1,520,388,000 and HK$337,166,000 respectively. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank loans and other borrowings of
HK$696,948,000, of which HK$669,415,000 and HK$27,533,000 were
recorded under current liabilities and non-current liabilities respectively.
Bank loans and other borrowings comprised (1) secured borrowings
totalling HK$640,307,000 and (2) unsecured borrowings totalling
HK$56,641,000. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank balances
totalling HK$5,941,000. As stated in note 1.3 to the consolidated financial
statements, these events or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. In light of the measures to improve the Group’s liquidity
and financial position as set forth in note 1.3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to
fulfil its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future upon successfully implementing these measures. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.
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B BT EH

KEY AUDIT MATTER

HEFTEE

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, was of FIEBENFFTHEEBRERMOFTEHE - 5
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of ~$f AHIGR AP BEHRER L BAEAETENEE -
the current period. The matter was addressed in the context of our audit ZEERERMFIEXRBEREATHBREL L
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our E & BEETERIEN - R T S WZ EHEIR
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter. HBEBHNER - B ERBFELLE 2 EATE
In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to  E M — &0t E1E4 - A HBH AT
Going Concern section, we have determined the matter described below ~ FHE AR ARE R B RN AR BT EE -

to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matter

HREETER

Impairment assessment of cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for the
mining exploitation operations and trading of chemical products
operations
BEFREGREENEREFHFHEeELE L ([HEE
EEy]) 896 E

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, mining rights
and right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2023 were approximately
HK$591,617,000, HK$782,369,000 and HK$37,023,000 which
were belongs to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for the mining
exploitation operations and trading of chemical products operations
multiple cash generating units (“CGUs”) as detailed in note 17 of the
consolidated financial statements.
RZEBEZ=ZF+ZRAR=+—H 9%¥ BEKEKHE -
RERRERAEEEREED A A /591,617,000% T -
782,369,000/% 7T % 37,023,000 7T + BRBEXERKEBLE
BErEREBcReELEN ([ReE4LEM]) - ZEBH
CEEBUFBERARNGEVBRRME7 -

For the impairment assessment, the Group appointed an
independent professional valuer to assess the recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment, mining rights and
right-of-use assets.
HAEAENE  EEEEE BB L HEEMERMKRT
EYE BERERH RERRCAREEZIHKES
g o

We had identified impairment assessment of property, plant
and equipment, mining rights and right-of-use assets as a key
audit matter because the balance was material and significant
management judgement was required to determine the key
assumptions including estimated future income, operating
margins and discount rate, etc. The disclosures of property,
plant and equipment are included in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

HMESYWE  BERERE REERERAEEEZR
BFEBNABARENEEH  RERHAREBEER &
ZEBRBFLHERAE - UBTHERE  BEMEFR
WA - REFBERERESE - BAME - BERR
BORBEEHHNGE M ERERWMTE7 -

How the matter was addressed in our audit report

FEFRENABRAZEZE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
CGUs for the mining exploitation operations and trading of
chemical products operations included:

B BEERAREBSREBELLERER R ELEN
ZREFERITZRFEE

o We assessed the appropriateness of management’s
identification of the CGUs and allocation of non-current
assets based on the Group’s accounting policies and our
understanding of the Group’s business;

. BARE SSENSTERELEME S£E8X
BOTH FEEEESNREELAELRSE
ERBEEZHEEN

o We obtained and reviewed cash flow forecasts of the
CGUs prepared by the management and approved by
the directors of the Company;

o BMBRSTENHEEERETE BERAESH
EZREELEBEUZREREEN

o We discussed with management in relation to the
methodology, basis and assumptions used in arriving the
forecasts to see whether the methodology, basis and
assumptions used were reasonable;

J BMEEEEN®RERBEAMAZTE EER
BRiE - WBEFMAZHZE  EERBRESEE

° We checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
reliance of the input data used; and
J MM BEmAE ARE 2 ERIERAT ST &

. We evaluated the independent external valuer’s

competence, capabilities and objectivity.
. BMFARBIEEMNNS 8L - e h BB -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Wai Nam, William with Practising Certificate
number PO5957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 March 2024

Level 23, YF Life Tower,
33 Lockhart Road,

Wai Chai,

Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
e Ef?é&ﬁﬂﬂéﬁtlﬁl?é%’z

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

2023 2022
—=-= —ET ==
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B = FE T FHT
Revenue g 3% 5(a) 1,533,714 1,295,666
Cost of sales i & A AR (1,441,307) (1,108,585)
Gross profit EF 92,407 187,081
Other income H e A 5(b) 2,410 2,820
Research and development cost fiff 2% A K (46,464) (32,048)
Provision for impairment losses under HHEEEBE ([BHEE
expected credit loss (‘ECL”), net Ei8]) BRRERIE
Rt FE (17,278) (542)
Other gains and losses H s R E B 7 (183,755) (103,351)
Loss on debt restructuring BEBEAER (1,343,925) =
Administrative expenses TR X (143,965) (159,824)
Loss from operations ReEEE (1,640,570) (105,864)
Finance costs BE B AR 10 (132,193) (140,030)
Loss before income tax BREFESHATER 11 (1,772,763) (245,894)
Taxation — credit/(charge) RmE-—#Ee  (NK) 14 12,891 (164)
Loss for the year NFEEE (1,759,872) (246,058)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 H K&
(Net of tax effect): (MBRHBHELE)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently 7+ {4 A BEE 37 7 48 2 5 25
to profit or loss: ZIHA :
Exchange differences arising from REBIHINTBRAREE ZE
translation of foreign subsidiaries HER 6,239 8,828
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEZEWE
for the year 6,239 8,828
Total comprehensive expenses AEELXHBZASE
for the year (1,753,633) (237,230)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEakHEMZEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

2023 2022

—_E_= —E-=
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B = FET FHT

Loss for the year attributable to: LTATEEERAFEESR
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ R =N (1,632,535) (162,643)
Non-controlling interests E g i (127,337) (83,415)
Loss for the year AEEEFE (1,759,872) (246,058)
Total comprehensive expense DTATEEZEBE XA
attributable to:
Owners of the Company PiN/NETEZ =N (1,636,018) (185,767)
Non-controlling interests IR ER (117,615) (51,463)
Total comprehensive expense for AEE2HBXZASE
the year (1,753,633) (237,230)
(Restated)
(&)
Loss per share SRESR
From operations REEB
— Basic _EHK (43.09) (13.92)
16 HK cents #&fll  HK cents /& 1Ll
— Diluted — s (43.09) (13.92)

16 HK cents #&fll  HK cents /&1Ll
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e IS AR R R 3R

As at 31 December 2023 R =F = =#F+=-H=+—H

2023 2022
—=s-= —E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FE& T FH&T
ASSETS BE
Non-Current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZRE 17 591,617 699,942
Mining rights PR 18 782,369 852,585
Goodwiill GRS 19 - 13,403
Prepayment SRR 20 26,206 =
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 32(a) 37,023 44,018
1,437,215 1,609,948
Current assets REBEE
Inventories IEN=Y 21 156,176 271,949
Trade and bill receivables JEUWBR B IR 22 116,001 9,468
Prepayments, deposits and ERRE - Ee2k
other receivables L th JFE UK 23 43,614 114,291
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEeEED 24 5,941 11,344
321,732 407,052
TOTAL ASSETS EE#E 1,758,947 2,017,000
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital f% A% 25 250,233 373,926
Reserves & (290,205) (1,700,425)
Equity attributable to owners ARARHEBSAEMLRER
of the Company (39,972) (1,326,499)
Non-controlling interests JEfE IR = (297,194) (179,579)
TOTAL EQUITY EREE (337,166) (1,506,078)
LIABILITIES aE
Non-Current liabilities kFBAEE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERNMEMER 29 27,533 16,890
Lease liabilities HEBRE 32(b) 7,162 7,589
Deferred tax liabilities EERIE A E 26 219,298 237,384
253,993 261,863
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R B R

As at 31 December 2023 R =F = =%#F+=-H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= =
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5 FE&xT FH&T
Current liabilities REBEE

Trade and bill payables ERERRERE 27 373,998 286,444
Other payables and accruals HEENMZ R ESER 28 682,241 1,022,009
Contract liabilities EHEE 30 116,206 222 963
Bank loans and other borrowings RITE R R EHME K 29 669,415 1,325,375
Lease liabilities HEAE 32(b) 260 236
Corporate bond TtEESH 31 - 404,188
1,842,120 3,261,215
TOTAL LIABILITIES EEHAE 2,096,113 3,523,078
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERRAEHAE 1,758,947 2,017,000
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FEBAaEFHE (1,520,388) (2,854,163)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERARBERE
LIABILITIES (83,173) (1,244,215)
NET LIABILITIES EEFE (337,166) (1,506,078)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2024 and signed on its

behalf by:

Yang Ying Min

BRER

Director

EF

REMBEBREAKESFEN _FT_HF=A

=S+t —BHEREETE

HE=Z:

=< RR

Qian Yi Dong
£

Director

EF

¥ TIALR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERRBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

Aidanuay22  RoEoE-F-F M 37619 31,350 694 95 10676 0708 BOTO01Y (1073 (128116 (1268848
Loss forthe year KERER - - - - - - (16264 (16263 3415 (6059
Bohagedfeence  EREE - - s e e - B @iy 3% 8628

Totd comprehensieloss ZEF2AEE
for the year g S = = - - - (23124 (162,643 (185,767) (51,463) (237,230

A3t December 2022 RZ32Z
t-A=1-H 3396 3,761,982 31,360 (894) 9% 12676 (273829 (232655 (1326499 (179579 (1,506,078

Atlauay203  RZFZZE-F-B 796 3761932 31,350 (894) 995 12676 (73829 (52655 (1326499 (179579 (1506,078)
Loss for the year TEREE - - - - - - - (163253 (163253 (123%1) (175987
Bchangedfeet  EXEE - - - - - - (3483) - (3483) 9722 6,29

Totdl comprehensieloss ZEE 2 AFELE

for e year - - - - - - DAY (6% (6608 (17619 (1753689
Cpldedcion kK S W05 BIB%Y  4112488 - - - - - - - -
Sbspimoishaes  ZERA VR S s S S S - -
SereStaeskse S HRHEA WMTB 26080 S 8 8 z z - 2855 - 285

A3 December 2003 W-E-ZE
t2h=1-8 20208 2695682 4143838 (69%4) 995 12676 (21312 (6,865,190) (39,972 (297,194 (337,166)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nv_\ é IE: %)\ﬁ% %

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

ZFFA=T—HIFE

2023 2022
—=s== e
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTER FAxT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHEEZRERE
Loss before income tax R ET 15 B A0 B 18 (1,772,763) (245,894)
Bank interest income |RITH B WA (39) (50)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % - BERREITE 74,270 61,591
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEETE 5,887 6,188
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BELZEBREBE
equipment 31,609 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets TREEEREBEERE 149 =
Impairment loss on mining right REREREERE 51,564 -
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 13,403 =
Impairment loss on inventory FEREEBE 3,323 -
Loss on debt restructuring EREHAEE 1,343,925 -
Provision for impairment losses of under HHEEEEEL T REREE
ECL model B 17,278 542
Interest expenses for lease liabilities HEBEMNERX 898 972
Interest on bank and other borrowings and RIT R E A A RA K
corporate bonds THEEHFE 131,296 139,058
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEE f% EEHEZ
equipment I 2% - (75)
Operating loss before working capital changes BECEPN I LEHE (99,200) (37,668)
Decrease /(increase) in inventories R, () 106,606 (55,559)
Increase in trade and bill receivables, FE WERRRZE - B KIEA
prepayments, deposits and other receivables & K& H b fE W SR AN (91,548) (1,013)
Increase in trade and bill payables, other ERNEREER - EMENRKE
payables and accruals FERH & A2 0 150,480 88,281
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities EHARE CRd) /H#m (101,979) 187,906
Cash (used in)/generated from operations K2 (A B zRE (35,641) 181,947
Tax paid E ﬁ 18 S (171
Environmental and resources tax paid ERRERERM - (99,939)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating &% EZ8 (FFA) FHE2RE
activities FH (35,641) 81,837
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nv_\ é EE: @)\ﬁ% %

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —F- =
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTER FAxT
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEEZHERE
Interest received RS 39 50
Acquisition of property, plant and WHEmME - BEMEE
equipment (3,414) (89,014)
Investment deposit "EES (3,087) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant H &% % « BE MERE
and equipment Fr 53 3038 - 101
Addition of right-of-use asset RNEFTHEEE = (227)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFMAZHESFE (6,462) (89,090)
Cash flows from financing activities RETEHELEZEERE
Proceed from bank loans and other RITERREMERME
borrowings RIA 97,764 41,755
Loans interest paid BERAE (9,295) (8,759)
Repayment of bank loans and other EEEITER R EAEGRK
borrowings (91,512) (25,053)
Proceeds from issuance of shares BT TS RIE 40,000 =
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE (1,129) (1,186)
Net cash generated from financing METEMEZ
activities REeEH 35,828 6,757
Net decrease in cash and cash RERRELENRIEFR
equivalents (6,275) (496)
Cash and bank balances at1 January RA—A—BZ2HERET
i ek 11,344 20,733
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, N E RSB oL » FH
net 872 (8,893)
Cash and bank balances at R+=-ZA=+—HZ2
31 December REeRIBITHER 5,941 11,344
Analysis of balances of cashandcash BE&RRESZEBEUWEH =2
equivalents i
Cash and bank balances R& MIBITHESH 5,941 11,344
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION

1.1

1.2

General information

North Mining Shares Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liabilities. The address of the registered office
of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business has been changed to Room 2004-05, 20/F, Kwan
Chart Tower, 6 Tonnochy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong. The
shares of the Company are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The Company has
made an application to the Stock Exchange for resumption
of trading in the Shares with effect on 3 October 2023 on the
Stock Exchange.

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holdings. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are mining operations — exploitation,
exploration and manufacture of mineral resources and sales of
chemical products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same functional currency of the
Company.

Statement of compliance and basis for

preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated
financial statements also include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

1. " REFNETEBHARGRE

piz

=

1.1

1.2

tFEERHBERAT 2023 3R

—REHR

EFTBEROGBERAA(IRAA
Al RBEREEIMKIAERE
ZERAA o ARFGZEMBPER
i #F & Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °
FTELEMBEREEBESH
& W Be5E B 58 K E20182004-05
E o ARAROEBEBER S
FrER AR ([BRA]) £ o
RARABERBIMAMBFRGE =
T=FTAZHARBRERZAIR

ARRAZETBRBREREER -
AR REMBAR ([A&EE])
CEIBEBRRBEBER — FK -
HHERURREBEERREEENL
Bm e
HEMBRRURNRAAZNEER
BETLZY -

FEEARGUER

HEMBEBRRCRRBEESM
rE([ZEEtMAg]) B
ZEEMBREERN ([FEYB
WEEA]) B - I KE
MBRRTBEMIAESR LT
RA(TERRA) REERA
BOIFFIRE 2 BRRE -

AT XEIN 2 T BERMAHA
RAEMBRRIBREBELKAEE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+-H=+—HIFFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION

(Continued)

58

1.2 Statement of compliance and basis for

preparation (Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial application
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION

(Continued)
1.3 Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$1,759,872,000 during the year ended 31 December
2023 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
and net liabilities of approximately HK$1,520,388,000
and HK$337,166,000 respectively. As at 31 December
2023, the Group had bank loans and other borrowings
of HK$696,948,000, of which HK$669,415,000 and
HK$27,533,000 were recorded under current liabilities and
non-current liabilities respectively. Bank loans and other
borrowings comprised (1) secured borrowings totaling
HK$640,307,000; and (2) unsecured borrowings totaling
HK$56,641,000. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had
bank balances totaling HK$5,941,000. Further, the continuity
of the Group’s operation is dependent upon the Group
was able to solicit new funding for their operation. These
conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have careful consideration for the
liquidity of the Group in light of the conditions described
above.

*

The English translation of Chinese names is for identification
purpose only

—REMETEBHARGERE
(%)

13 FEKE

REEBREBEE-_T=_=F+=A
—t+—BLFEHESBRIED
1,759,872,0008 &+ B A& HE
ZZBHILENRBEBEFERAE
FEE D Bl A 491,520,388,000/%8 7T &
337,166,000 7C - KR =T = =4
TZA=1+—8 ' A5EHR]T
BN E 15 50696,948,00078 7T,
H #669,415,0007% 7T ;27,533,000
BIXOAETAREEERIERD
BfE - RITEFREMERBEN)
B EREFE $£640,307,000% 7T
K (2) £ & IR 18 5K & $£56,641,000/%8
TLe RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—
B A5 EBEERTHEHKEH
5,941,000 7T © L4+ AEEE
B2 BB A S @S
HeBmMEHES - ZSBILE
THEEEATHEEME  HEHAX
SR FBEKERNELESEKE
fl o

REHEEVBEHRRE - ARF
EL@ER  ARREZCERE
EZEAEBEZRDER -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION

(Continued)
1.3 Going concern (Continued)

60

These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore
the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, these consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis on the assumption that the Group will be able to
operate as a going concern for the foreseeable future. In the
opinion of the Directors, the Group can meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the next year
from the date of the consolidated financial statements, after
taking into consideration of the following measures and
arrangements made subsequent to the reporting date:

(i) The Directors will strengthen to implement measures
aiming of improving the working capital and cash flow
of the Group including closely monitoring the general
administrative expenses and operating costs; and

(i) The Directors will continue to source for additional
funding and negotiate with certain bankers to
obtain additional banking facilities and/or extend the
borrowings when they fall due.

(i)  In the opinion of the Directors, they are negotiating
with several independent parties in relation to proceed
subscription of shares. The Directors hold a positive
and encouraging opinion of ongoing negotiations with
these parties regarding the potential subscription of
shares; and
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION

(Continued)

1.3 Going concern (Continued)

(iv)  The Group’s mining operation will be resumed in 2024
after obtaining all the necessary approval certificate
from the PRC’s authorities. The Directors are in the
opinion that the Group’s mining operation will generate
positive cash flow and that will improve the overall
liquidity position of the Group.

On the basis of the foregoing, and after assessing the
Group’s current and forecasted cash positions, the
Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet
in full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for
the period of twelve months from the date of consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared on the going
concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue to
operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to
be made to restate the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

2.

62

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective on 1 January 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (issued by the HKICPA on Insurance Contracts
4 Jan 2018)

Amendments to HKFRS 17 (issued on Insurance Contracts
25 June 2020 by the IASB and issued
on 19 October 2020 by the HKICPA)

Amendment to HKFRS 17 (issued on Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and

9 December 2021 by the IASB and HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information
issued on 25 February 2022 by the
HKICPA)

Amendments to HKAS 1 (issued on Disclosure of Accounting Policies

20 April 2021 by the HKICPA and
issued on 12 February 2021 by the
IASB)
Amendments to HKAS 8 (issued on Definition of Accounting Estimates
20 April 2021 by the HKICPA and
issued on 12 February 2021 by the

IASB)

Amendments to HKAS 12 (issued on Deferred Tax related to Assets and
8 June 2021 by the HKICPA and Liabilties arising from a Single
issued on 7 May 2021 by the IASB) Transaction

Amendment to HKAS 12 (issued on International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
21 July 2023 by the HKICPA and Model Rules
23 May 2023 by the IASB)

Amendments to HKAS 28 and HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture (amencments)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective on 1 January 2023

(Continued)

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments,
accounting policy information that is standardised
information, or information that only duplicates or summaries
the requirements of the HKFRSs, is considered immaterial
accounting policy information and is no longer disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, so as
not to obscure the material accounting policy information
disclosed in notes to the consolidated financial statement.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

2.

64

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAHITIRKBIEEVBR
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HER (@)
STANDARDS (Continued)
2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue 22 2RTEERERIE
but not yet effective REEBEITEBMBREE
Al
The Group has not early applied the following new and AEBVERFEBUATE T
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not B R ERE AT RGBT B R
B R 2R -

yet effective:

Effective for annual
periods beginning on or
after
RUTABRz2 &5 %H
ZEEHEEN

Amendments to HKFRS 16 (issued on 22 Sep 2022 by the IASB and Lease Liability in a Sale and
issued on 1 November 2022 by the HKICPA) Leaseback

ERMBREENE 6N (BIF) (BRefEBEen- EREDNHEEER
B_EARTBEM BASHMAGR T __F

+—-A—B%E#H)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (issued ~ Classification of Liabilities as Current
on 14 August 2020 by the HKICPA and issued by the IASB on 23 or Non-current
January 2020)

ERGH RN IRHBERENTIR (BFTX) (BEGHANLE HBEGIEARDRERD
RZZB-ZZFENATHBER  BERGHEAREER-F
—ZE-A-+ZRHEM)

Amendments to HKAS 1 (issued on 15 Dec 2022 by the HKICPA and Non-current Liabilities with
issued on 31 Oct 2022 by the IASB) Covenants

ERGHEREIR (BIA) (BEGHMRER_S-2F MWEZNKHNERYER
+TZA+HEBEEG  BReHENESFeR-_T-_F+A
=+—R%E#H)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 (issued on 21 July 2023 by the  Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKICPA and 25 May 2023 by the IASB)

BAQHENZTRREAMBRERRETT (BFIA) (B HREFRERH
CHMAER T -_=FtA-+—-BEHK BEEe:EL
BEER-_Z-_=FRA-THAHM)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)
2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue

but not yet effective (Continued)

Applicable to December 2025 year-end, but may
be adopted early

Amendments
BETAR

ERFMIRKEEITERYMBER
HER (@)
22 ERITEERERNIHAT
REBITEBMBREE
Al (@)
n. BRAR=-Z-EF+=AF
K BATRERM

Effective date

£ %A H

Amendments to HKAS 21 (issued on 25 Sep  Lack of Exchangeability
2023 by the HKICPA and on 15 Aug 2023
by the IASB)

BRI EFE2% (BAAX) (FEg BMZAHAK
HMAER - T-_=FAA-+AH
i BRGHEABEER T
Z=ZFENATHHEER)

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January
2025
—E-RF-A—H%
&Rz FEHE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

—  has power over the investee;
— is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

—  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
%éﬂﬁ%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁi

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

—  the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relevant
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

— potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

— rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

— any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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3.

68

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s entity
therein. Non-controlling interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable
to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to
cover the losses.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business represents the
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest
in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the relevant business at the date of
acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost as established
at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to other assets of the unit pro rata based in the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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3.

70

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

(@) Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued))

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset, the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in OCI if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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3.

72

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
(@) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a

financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch.

0

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below).
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
(@) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued))

ZFFA=T—HIFE

()

Amortised cost and interest income (Continued)

For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on

financial assets which are subject to impairment under

HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, and

financial guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL is

updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in

credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from

all possible default events over the expected life of the

relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m

ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is

expected to result from default events that are possible

within 12 months after the reporting date.
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ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and/
or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
(@) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
0 Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

. significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

(i)

Significant increase in crediit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
(@) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or

more events of default that have a detrimental

impact on the estimated future cash flows of

that financial asset have occurred. Evidence

that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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3.

78

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

V)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner.

Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2023

3.

EESHREESR @\

34 €W I A @)
mHEE (&)
BBEEERE (&)

(a)

(iv)

(V)

5 B R
EEEMBRYEF
e ABEYBEEH -
B Y& ERKE KRR
B R RER (Plan s 75
WERAEANWER
B 3B R MCBRR FRm
- EsWCcafE
BRF (LARPELEE
RE)) - AEHEEM
HMBEE -

REALREBEEBRLT
WZERER®R M
R BEER D
ARAEEKERF
TR B BT o MO8
BRKILEEREMN -
B 12 P 42 @ B9 E AT 5K
BERIERER -

G EREREREEE
b
EHEEERENGE
TEANBE - BEOE
B (MEHEXREBR
M8 E) MR AR A
B - BOBERE
WEBEBXDREESE
BEMAMELEERE
TR AHIEEE
1B b AT R BRE R
R EmEsE - H
Ty IR B N #E R0 AE BB R
MERMEE -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the expected losses are the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts or on
loan commitments for which the effective interest
rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply
a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the
risks that are specific to the cash flows but only
if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into
account by adjusting the discount rate instead of
adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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3.

80

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on past due
analysis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s trade and other receivables are
each assessed as a separate group;

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher of the
amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over
the guarantee period.

Except for investments in debt instruments/
receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, the
Group recognises an impairment gains or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account. For investments in
debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
the loss allowance is recognised in OCI| and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve without
reducing the carrying amount of these debt
instruments/receivables.
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3.

82

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payable
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently measured
at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 (since 1 January
2018)/IFRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018); and

° the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the profit or loss in the period in which it
is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use
of the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, using the straight line method, over
their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates are as

follows:

Mining structure and building, plant and 20 years
machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 3to 5 years

The gain or loss arising from disposal of an asset is
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
profit or loss.
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3.

84

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.6 Ownership interests in leasehold land and

building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as
“right-of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or
“prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS 16)
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.7

3.8

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision
is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately are initially measured at
cost. Mining rights are reclassified from exploration and
evaluation assets at the carrying amount when the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral
resources are demonstrable. Mining rights with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any identified impairment loss. Amortisation for mining rights
with finite useful lives is provided using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over the
estimated total proved and probable reserves of the mineral
mines.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.9 Current assets and current liabilities
Current assets are expected to be realised within twelve

months of the end of reporting period or in the normal course

of the Group’s operating cycle. Current liabilities are expected

to be settled within twelve months of the end of reporting

period or in the normal course of the Group’s operating

cycle.

3.10Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost

method.

3.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated

statement of financial position include:

(@)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash

equivalents as defined above, and form an integral part of the

Group’s cash management.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EESHHERER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.12Impairment of other assets

S1I2HEMEERE

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have been decreased:

— Property, plant and equipment

— Right-of-use assets

— Prepaid lease payments

— Mining rights

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.12Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment loss

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro-rata basis,
except that the carrying amount of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs to sell,
or value in use, if determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favorable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill
is not reversible. A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which
the reversals are recognised.

3.13Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or

as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control

I

of

the goods or services underlying the particular performance

obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or

a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.13Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.13Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations (to specify), the Group allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts
or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EEESTHREN W
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.13Revenue recognition (Continued) 13RI &= (&)

Costs to fulfil a contract BTEHNZEE

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its construction REBEREEEENPELERET

contracts. The Group first assesses whether these costs BRZHAEA - AEEHLEREHR

qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant A ERFEZEREARE S

Standards, failing which it recognises an asset for these EREARAREE - MTEEK -

costs only if they meet all of the following criteria: BEREUT2HBEEERAEZ

(@ the costs relate directly to a contract or to an (@ AR A A K E ] R E
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically HA 2 EHNKTBRHEI L 2E
identify; MEEEBIE

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group (o) BEAKASAKEEKART
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) (R FHEEK) BREYD
performance obligations in the future; and BEREZERSUELESBRR

= Rk

(¢)  the costs are expected to be recovered. (0 HBEKATBEHEAYE -

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit HUEBRZEEHBERESRMER

or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the HE(HEREFPFEEAEMABENE

transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which mek AR — B REZEHE - %

the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review. BAEAETRER -
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92

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.14Foreign currencies

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK dollars, which
is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying
cash flow hedges or qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such
as equity instruments held at fair value through profit or
loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation difference on non-monetary items, such as
equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets,
are included in the fair value reserve in equity.
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3.

ZFFA=T—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.14 Foreign currencies (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(1)  assets and liabilities for each financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(2) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

(8)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is
sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.15Lease

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from individual
leases within the portfolio.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EESHHEEXER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.15Lease (Continued) 3.158 & (@)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

— the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

— any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; and

— any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

FEEEREEA (B)
CEHEEE
ERREEXRAERLE :

- HEREMNVHBTESR:

—  RFM B ZAATEREMR
MEMK - RERSHER
HEEBE &k

— AEEBENEMOBER
A o

ERAEEERKARETMAEH
EXREBENE  YUMEMNE
HAEHERGBHELAER -

AEBETREE KA EEER
SHEANEEEREREMNERE
BEBERATFHHABEERTE -
DR ERBREEARMGFER
FHEREEH UREERE) &
BRERIE o

AEBER&ZE BRI RE A
EREEEZIREBFEE -

iR EHERE
ENATEREEEREREFTAR
BREERNFISRAR 915K
RFPEFE  RUTEREHQ
FENFABRRSBINEHENK
Vet AERBBEEKRA -

FBERGEBRLR 2023 F8® 95



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
%ﬁéﬂﬁ%i&%’zwa

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

3.

96

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.15Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed lease payments (including
in-substance fixed payments).

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the date of reassessment; and

° the lease payments change due to changes in
expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.15Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model. Variable lease payments
with reference to revenue generated by tenants are
recognised as income when they arise.

3.16 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

3.17 Employee benefits

(i) Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave
passage and the cost to the Group of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees of the Group.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as
required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance and to the state-managed
retirement benefits schemes for the employees of
the Group’s overseas entities are recognised as an
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as incurred.

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain directors and employees.
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based
vesting condition) of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest.

3.18 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the

year. Taxable profit is the profit for the year, determined

in accordance with the rules established by the taxation

authorities, upon which income taxes are payable.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.18 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable
on differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
Such deferred assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Company is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each end of reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly
to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity.

3.

EREHRERERN @

3.18HL 1A ()

BERBADRUBRRZEER
BEREE R EERB RN A
REERERZZRERENK
ARmzHIE - REERERA
BEEANK - BEMER G K
—YERBVEREZETARER -
iR & 3% 18 B B Al FE SR B A
7 AP AE 8 A % AT R S =
BER - MREEZETMN
BR - MENEZHEARVTER
— R ROE M g FT R A R
FEIRHZEMEERAR (X
BARBRI) MELE  FREL
BERBEITS TINER -

EERE B ER RN B QR &
BRAZREMELERRATER
EBTUAER - HERAQBAIE
HERERZBOREEZEN
AT 38 R 2R & A e RUBR S o

BELERBEECREAERSRS
HRa » TRBRBEENT R
URERERBEXBDEEZS
TR o

BERBARBAHBFERERER
BEZFRNERZBREAE - B
AR BSMBRHFT A - KM
ELEHRAREEREENRAE
BRIt ARREBEARE - AIREK
MERBRIE o

SFRERGEBRDR 2023 F8® 99



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
%%éﬂﬁ%i&%%ﬁﬁi

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

3.

100

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.19Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. Where the effect of the
time value of money is material, the amount of a provision
is the present value at the end of reporting period of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

3.20 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount
of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset
is recognised.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.21 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,

related parties include a person and an entity as defined

below:

U

(i)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(@)

()

(©]

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group;

is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

the entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

either entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);
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3.

102

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.21 Related parties (Continued)
(i)  (Continued)
(c)  both entities are joint ventures of a third entity;

(d)  either entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(e) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related to the Company.
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
plan;

) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i);

(9 a person identified in (i)(a) has significant voting
power in the entity;

(h)  the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personal
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1 Provision for ECL on trade and bills

receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
and bills receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e. gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults, the historical default rates
are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

TESE G RHE

FERM S AL B G BHERE - K
RRAEFEAREENABENRAEAEES
HAE - B RER - MEFRE HEAM
KB HE - Bt REBERLTHE -
BUEBFRERABRDENBELR R
HMERSEROEER - BERE&ERA
e FfEFT AR -

BEGAREARIAGHESS - ¥
SR HER] 0 MEZEINZHARM
BITESRT AT B ER : s E
AR ARREE - BIFEEET RARKE
MR

41 BEWERREBZEHE
EFERE
AEBEFRABEBSERENE
ZREBHECEMEEER - BE
EERAGAEUBEER (B
REFEARIM 22 EAEF
DB 2 AP RBET o

BREEESNERAEBZESL
BERENE  AEEKZAEN
EHBEABREREAARBRELE
BEALgR - flm - IR
o (BMEALERE) BHAR
AR —FARBA - K AT G
BEHMBEEN  MEREELE
WE - REREAY - BELBEE
BAOXGTUERN - LOWATE
Mt zEY -

trEERHERAT 2023 % 103



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
%%éﬂﬁ%i&%zﬁﬁi

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

4.

104

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

4.2

4.3

Provision for ECL on trade and bills

receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.

Mineral resources

Mining rights are amortised using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over
the estimated total proved and probable reserve of the
molybdenum mines.

The process of estimating quantities of reserves is inherently
uncertain and complex. It requires significant judgment
and decision based on available geological, geophysical
engineering and economic data. These estimates may change
substantially as additional data from ongoing development
activities and production performance becomes available and
as economic conditions impacting mineral prices and costs
change. Reserve estimates are based on current production
forecasts, prices and economic conditions. The directors of
the Company exercise their judgments in estimating the total
proved and probable reserves of the molybdenum mines. If
the quantities of reserves are different from current estimates,
it will result in significant changes to amortisation of mining
rights and affect the recoverable amount of exploration and
evaluation, from which a material loss may arise.

Net realisable values of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will
reassess the estimations at the end of the reporting period.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)
4.4 Impairment of property, plant and

equipment, the right-of-use assets and the
mining rights

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and mining
rights are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the value in use
including cash flow projections with appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the assets belong. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the percentage
change in revenue growth and gross profit margins in the cash
flow projections, could affect the recoverable amount.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the
property, plant and equipment, the right-of-use assets and
the mining rights were HK$591,617,000, HK$37,023,000
and HK$782,369,000 net of accumulated depreciation and
impairment loss of HK$800,159,000, HK$69,019,000 and
HK$2,271,541,000 respectively (2022: the carrying amount of
the property, plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets
were HK$699,942,000, HK$44,018,000 and HK$852,585,000,
net of accumulated depreciation and impairment loss of
HK$705,484,000, HK$64,556,000 and HK$2,269,844,000
respectively).
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M B % 5l £699,942,000% 7T
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705,484,000/% T * 64,556,000/
7T }.2,269,844,0007 7T) ) °
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4.

106

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.4

4.5

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, the right-of-use assets and the
mining rights (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment,
the right-of-use assets and the mining rights have been
determined by the management of the Group by value in use
calculation of the CGU to which these assets belong. Estimating
the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the CGU and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. During the year ended 31 December
2023, impairment losses of approximately HK$31,609,000,
HK$149,000 and HK$51,564,000 (2022: no impairment losses)
were recognised related to property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and mining rights in the profit or loss during
the year, respectively. Further details are given in note 17, 32(a)
and 18 to the financial statements.

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, apart
from those involving estimates, management has prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption that the
Group will be able to operate as a going concern in the coming
year, which is a critical judgement that has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making a judgement by the directors of the Company,
at a particular point of time, about the future outcome of events
or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The directors of the
Company consider that the Group has the capability to continue
as a going concern and the major events or conditions, which
may give rise to business risks, that individually or collectively
may cast significant doubt upon the going concern assumption
are set out in note 1.3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5, WERHEMBA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as follows: REBRREEMBAZDTET

2023 2022
=== = — —

—_—= — = — = ==

HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET TAETT

(@) Revenue recognised at a point in (@ RE-ESHBERER

time: W -
Sales of molybdenum concentrate HEEBD - 221,332
Sales of chemical products HEER 1,553,714 1,074,334
1,553,714 1,295,666
Revenue from sales of molybdenum concentrate and chemical HEERERNHEEREEE R E
products are recognised when (or as) the control of the goods FIEER —SHSERRN (AEEBR)
is transferred at a point in time. Revenue is recognised when R BERFESERNERESRE
the customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of REEMER  BEARASEEBESMAR
the goods and the Group has present right to payment and the MIERNEMITE B ER - 8
collection of the consideration is probable. Sales of molybdenum BRKE -  HEHBEBERELER &K
concentrate and chemical products are usually completed within RN—FARTK - MES Y HRE LEER
one year, as permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price EEFEAT I RBENEEAREREITAL
allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. B (E o
2023 2022
—_E-=F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&x FAxT
(b)  Other income: (b) HtwAX :
Bank interest income RATH B WA 39 50
Government grant BT 3Kk 1,705 658
Sales of by-products (note) HERE®R (M) 666 2,112
2,410 2,820
Note: M &
During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the government grants HE-Z-_=FR-ZF-__F+ZA=+-—
are one-off with no specific condition attached for the both years. BIEFE @ RF@HEHEA— XK WEN

I0AE (AT 5F FE 1A e
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6. (PROVISION FOR)/REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT
LOSSES UNDER ECL

6.

FAHEEFERTRERSSE (&
#®) /BE

2023 2022
—E-=5F —EF-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTER FAT
Reversal of impairment of trade and other JRE LT B 5K T EL b FE LR 2
receivables BB - 559
Impairment of trade and other receivables TEEEEBEE TRERER
under ECL K E e W R 2 BB (17,278) (1,101)
(17,278) (542)
7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HtWEREER
2023 2022
—EBE-=5F —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAT
Amortisation of right-of-use assets FREEEHE (5,887) (6,188)
Exchange gain P& 5, Y &5 - 9,555
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEEREKBZ
equipment I 2% - 75
Sales of obsolete inventories LEZERFR (77,820) (106,793)
Impairment on goodwill EESNCEE (13,403) =
Impairment on inventory FERE (3,323) =
Impairment on property, plant and equipment  #1% - B = & & E R E (31,609) =
Impairment on right-of-use assets TREEERE (149) -
Impairment on mining right REERE (51,564) =
(183,755) (103,351)
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8.

ZFFA=T—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments have been identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the directors of the Company, which are also the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM?”), for the purpose of allocating
resources to segments and to assessing their performance.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and two reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@) Mining operation: — Exploration of mineral mines
— Exploitation of molybdenum mines

(b) Chemical trading  Manufacturing and sale of chemical

operation: products
The management monitors the operating results of its business
units separately for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on operating profits or loss and is measured
consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial
statements. Information regarding the above segment is reported
below.

THREN
AEBNRATEBEARTEERZ
REREBBNELEDE - RENHR
EBARAEF (AT EEEARE
(EBEEBREE])) AKARS K
EERNBRFAEERAZBNTMERE
B o

BRERBEMTE  AEBEZEEBRE

EQRERBHASLBEN  BAM

BEAREEEHE  HAWT -

@ EBEE: — WERBRDES
— R ATEIS

b [EEREE HERHEECEM
EZIE

EEERENEEEREEBEM L
BEE UREBERIBELFEHERR -
DERREDBELEZNHBEFNG

WIREFEAMBERERAZLLE N HE
BHEMZELFE - AR LASEZ
BERBEMT -
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. 7HEN W)
8.1 Operating segment information 81 ReENSEER
Segment revenue and results TEWBEREES
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZTZ-_=f+=-A=t+—H
LEE
Trading of
Mining chemical
exploitation products Total
WK EBEELBER et
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT THERT FERT
Revenue W &
Segment revenue k1L & - 1,533,714 1,533,714
Results E§
Segment results PEESE (151,911) (79,898) (231,809)
Unallocated corporate income KOBITIWA 304
Finance costs & A (132,193)
Other gains or losses Htt == E 8 (18,549)
Loss on debt restructuring BEXELAEBR (1,343,925)
Impairment losses under ECL, FHEEBREEAET
net HEEEEHE (17,278)
Unallocated corporate expenses &7 Bt A =B X (29,313)
Loss before income tax MRATEBATE B (1,772,763)
Taxation bS] 12,891
Loss for the year KEEEE (1,759,872)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. ZEEHR )

8.1 Operating segment information (Continued) 81 RESEER (&)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PTHEBERES (F)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—F-—F+=ZHA=+—H

EFE
Trading of
Mining chemical
exploitation products Total
BEERE BEELER Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FA& T FH&T FH&T
Revenue U &
Segment revenue 7 R = 221,332 1,074,334 1,295,666
Results E
Segment results 2 (14,913) (90,844) (105,757)
Unallocated corporate income Ko RARIKA 80
Finance costs Bh & KA (140,030)
Other gains or losses H fth i 2= 5k 5 1B 4,218
Impairment losses under ECL, net FEHAE B ATI8IE T
WIEEEFE (542)
Unallocated corporate expenses ol W/NECIE -3 (3,863)
Loss before income tax BRETISRATEE (245,894)
Taxation IE (164)
Loss for the year NEEEIE (246,058)
(@  Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable (@)

segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by those

EENRAXS Eﬂi—ﬁ&%%
£ ’\*E%ZETEEK S /N

segments. Segment result represents the profit earned

or loss incurred by each segment without allocation AIMARFAZ - B0 H Ak
of corporate income and expenses, some amount mEE - EEEEEEE

of other gains or losses, provision for or reversal of TREBBREBEREBRFE
FRITREBARA  EFHFe R
BMEKRZBERT & DR
HEURFISKRTEEEE o Ut
BRAXEZELZERREZ RN

DEERNFERRZFE -

impairment loss under ECL, net, central administrative
expenses, directors’ salaries and finance costs. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. ZEEHR =
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued) 81 RESEER #)
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERAEE

Trading of
Mining chemical
exploitation products Unallocated Total

WERK HEECER Ao B st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER

As at 31 December 2023 R=-ZT=-=#f

+=ZA=+—-H
Segment assets PEEE 1,350,143 387,581 21,223 1,758,947
Segment liabilities PTEEE 1,076,850 988,783 30,480 2,096,113
Trading of
Mining chemical
exploitation products  Unallocated Total
BEHK EE(S2M RAR #Et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TAT TAT TAT FTAT

As at 31 December 2022 W_ZT = — 4

+=-—A=+—H
Segment assets DEBEE 1,501,088 477,774 38,138 2,017,000
Segment liabilities NEEaE 1,108,860 946,099 1,468,119 3,523,078

112 North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2023



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
%ﬁéﬁﬁ%iﬁiﬁﬁi

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & % ZFF A=+ —HIFFE

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.

8.1 Operating segment information (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

—  all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than assets used jointly reportable segments which are
classified as “Others” in segment assets.

—  all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly
liable and classified as “Others” in segment liabilities.

Other segment information

Mining
exploitation

% 3¢ BE %
HK$’000
TER

As at 31 December2023 R-T=-=4

+=H=+-8
Depreciation and MEREH
amortisation 38,833
Capital expenditures EXREX 10,775

PEER @

81 RESEER (&
PHEERAE (iﬁ)
REZSBERRERSEBERS
B s

MEEEBADEEARE D

B (UHREDPEAREAZ
é?&“*ﬁéﬁqﬂ%ﬂi”*ﬁﬁ
[E A AIERSN) -

Fﬁﬁiéﬂ HHOBREARE D

B (A HREDEHRAEL
E“* 1a¢%ﬁ wATH
fib ] BB ERIBRIN)

Hitbn BEH

Trading of
chemical
products

EELER
HK$’000
THET

36,178
2,036

Unallocated Total
STV st
HK$°000 HK$°000
THERT THET

5,146 80,157
= 12,811
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. ZEEHR =
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued) 8.1 RESEER (&)
Other segment information (Continued) HitoBEEH (&)
Trading of
Mining chemical
exploitation products  Unallocated Total
TEMRE ESE(2H Ko ER HET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TAT TAT TAET TAET

As at 31 December 2022 KR _-ZF = —F
+-A=+—H

Depreciation and e R

amortisation 24,225 38,142 5,412 67,779
Capital expenditures BEARRY 151,730 2,760 = 154,490

8.2 Geographical information 8.2 EER

The following table sets out information about the TREINBB: ()ANEE KN
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external ARPZWE  RAEE 2R
customers; and (i) the Group’s current and non-current BRIERBEEMEE ZER -
assets. The geographical location of customers is based EPMEMERXEEY 2B
on the location at which the goods were delivered. The gBln DEEEMGCHRIEEE
geographical location of the segment assets is based on the ERMAEMEE S - MEREZR
physical location of the asset, in the case of mining rights, the REBFEMEE S o

location of the operation to which they are allocated.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.

8.2 Geographical information (Continued)
The Group’s operations are located in the following
geographical areas. The following table provides an analysis
of the Group’s revenue from external customers and assets
by geographical location:

TRER @)

82 HEENR (@)
AEEZEBCRATHE - T
KU ARERILEED 2R
EEWERAED

Segment revenue from External

customers Segment assets

RENREF 29 BWEH PHEE

2023
B =

HK$’000
TET

Hong Kong ) -
The PRC (country of domicile) # B (2% EBER) 1,533,714

2022 2023 2022
—E-- —E=-= -z -

—_< —— —_< —= _< ——

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET TETT

= 2,473 78

1,295,666 1,756,474 2,016,922

1,533,714

1,295,666 1,758,947 2,017,000

Information about major customers
Revenue from customer individually contributing over 10% of
the total of revenue of the Group is as follows:

Customer A (Chemical trading operation) & FA (Lt 2R B & % 7%)
Customer B (Chemical trading operation) £ FB ({L 2R E & ¥£75%)

AWIEEF2AR
% % B B K B 8 IR 3510% B b
BEPUEMT
2023 2022
—E-= S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER FiT
163,385 N/A i
158,791 N/A 7~ 78

Note:

1. The corresponding year’s revenue did not contribute over
10% to the total sales of the Group.

Excepts for the customers stated above, there is no other
single customer contributing over 10% of total revenue.

GER

1. HEFEMKZT EHANEER
ASEHEFE10% A £ o

BRrtaEps  HMEEME -F
FhBKE10% N £ -
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9.

10.

116

LOSS ON DEBT RESTRUCTURING

Pursuant to the restructuring agreement entered between the
Company and its creditors, on 27 September 2023, the Company
allotted and issued a total of 11,086,710,827 New Shares to its
creditors for settlement of their debt, and upon which all debts of its
creditors will be discharged and extinguished in full and its creditors
will not be allowed to make any claim against the Company
in respect of debts. Accordingly, loss on debt restructuring of
approximately HK$1,343,925,000 were recognised in profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The market price of the issued share capital as at the date of

restructuring was HK$2,882,545,000 and the carrying amount of
the debt derecognised was HK$1,538,620,000.

FINANCE COSTS

10.

EXEAEE
BERAFABAEBEEARZT_=F
NAZTEtHITLWEABE &
RAIKMEEREAA RS RENT
11,086,710,827/R T lx LA #8575 H B 7 -
BEREANMABEBE KB TEMER RE
B BEERATSEREBMAR AR
EEMRE - Bl BHEZTZ=F
T A=+ ALFEEBEABRY
1,343,925,000/8 TN B am F HER o

REMEAEZETRATER

2,882,545,0007% 7T & 4% 1 #E R (5 7% &9 BR
M 18 A&1,538,620,0007 7T °

BE XA

2023 2022
—EBC-=F —F_—

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET

Interest on bank loans and other borrowings B A F AEHEE 2 R1T
wholly repayable within five years ERkHEMERZHE 64,481 122,918
Debt restructuring interest cost BB EHF B KA 66,814 =
Interest expenses on corporate bond TEEHFMNEREZ - 16,140
Interest expenses for lease liabilities HEABMNERX 898 972
132,193 140,030
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11.

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging:

M. RFAEHAEE

BRAISRATEEREHERATERRETE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT T T
Auditor’s remuneration % 2 AT B & 1,000 1,320
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense MR AR X 27 & KA 1,441,307 1,108,585
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - BiE R &R &I &€ 74,270 61,591
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEAENE 5,887 6,188
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) & T A (BEEEHE)
— Wages and salaries —-IEk%Z 36,359 55,790
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions ~ — & UK & F| 51 &1 4 % 3,761 6,879
Operating lease payments in respect of WAEMEZREHERA
office premises - 19
Impairment losses on mining rights (note) REEREEE () 51,564 =
Impairment losses on goodwill (note) EmERAEEE () 13,403 =
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets (note) & A& ZEREEE (M) 149 S
Impairment losses on property, plant and mE  BELKREREERE
equipment (note) (HtaE) 31,609 =
Note: Included in other gains and losses. Mizk: Bt AEMKERER -
rBERBERAF 2023 &% 117
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 12. EEM 2
Remuneration of the directors of the Company disclosed pursuant B i& £ B & BB A a & 5] £383(1)
to the Listing Rules and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong BEBEZARAESHEOT

Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

2023 2022
—_E_=fF —_ -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE& T FHET
Fees: we:
Executive directors WITES - -
Independent non-executive directors BYEHITES 57 56
57 56
Other emoluments: HiE< :
Executive directors: WITES :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EULKEYNZ 770 792
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RAKIE BT 814 3R - 12
770 804
827 860
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 12. EEM £ (@)
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no emolument BHE_Z_=ZFR-_ZFT__F+=ZA
was paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an =+—HBLEFE  AXEETEREAR
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation AESEINAMNMSIERREMBARE
for loss of office. B o 72 i ABE 2 2 RIB S E R BE B
# o

Retirement benefit scheme
Fees Salaries and other benefits contributions Total
He FEREMBER BREREMER &3t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECCE Bkl —E-= CECCF et CECCF ettt T F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TH R TET TR TET TER TET TAR TAT

Executive directors HiTESE
Qian Yi Dong B - - 320 121 - 6 320 127
Zhang Jia Kun' KRR NATE A - NATER - NATE A - NATE A S
Yang Ying Min BER - - 450 671 - 6 450 677
Shen Jian i - - - - - - - =
Huang Zhidan? EEP - NATER - NATER - NATEE - NATER
- - 770 792 - 12 770 804
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their FHABTEETFNHIABREREEALRAR
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the AINAEEEHBARERBEmMEL -
Company and the Group.
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors

Cheng Chak Ho® gEge N/ATE B 37 NATER - NATEA - NATEHA 37
Guo Xiao Ying! il NATER 19 NATER - NATERA - NATEA 19
Shek Man Ho® AXES 31 NATER - NATEA - NATEE 31 NATER
Shen Ming Jie® LB A 13 N/AT i - N/AT i B - NAT i 13 N/AT i
Feng Jia Wei’ BEf 13 NATER - NATEAR - NATER 13 NATER

57 56 - - - - 57 56
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown MBI RTESHFM O ABRSLE
above were for their services as directors of the Company. AAREBMRERBMEL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & %= ZFF A=+ —HIFFE

12.

120

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

1 Zhang Jia Kun resigned as an executive director on 19 January 2022.
2 Huang Zhidan has been appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 29 November 2023.

3 Cheng Chak Ho resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director
on 1 April 2022.

4 Guo Xiao Ying resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director on
1 April 2022.
5 Shek Man Ho has been appointed as an independent non-executive

Director with effect from 29 November 2023.

6 Shen Ming Jie has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 29 November 2023.

7 Feng Jia Wei has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 29 November 2023.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, remunerations
of all directors of the Company fall within Nil to HK$2,000,000.

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2022: Nil).
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E%@H%
%%ﬁﬁ_;:zi A+ AEE
HITEE -

2 EEMNEAZE-_=F+—A=-+HhA
RBEZTAWNTES -

3 EZN _E-__FMOA—BEHES
SERTES -

4 BEBR _ZE__FMA-—BEESE
TIERITES -

5 AXZBZZTE-_=F+—HA=Z+NnA
REZTRBULIENITES -

6 AERB-ZT_=F+—A=+N1A
BEZTRBULIERNTES -

7 BEEEE_E-_=F+—A=+hH
HREZTABIYIENITES -

HE - _ZFfRKR-_FT-_—_F+=-A
=+—HLEFE ARAE2EEFZ
B 4 7 F = 78 7T 22,000,000 7T 2 § B
ﬁq °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EEH M

The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2022:
two) directors, details for whose remuneration are set out in Note
12 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2022:
two) highest paid, non-director employees are as follows:

FARLEESTMEIBREME (ZF
ZZF WMB)EE BEZWeFE
BN LEXHEEI2 e A T=% (ZE ==
F:-MB)FEEFHZRTMEIZME
HBET

2023 2022

—E=-= —T =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHB T
Salaries and other benefits Fe REAmET 705 913
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RKTE FI T 84 5K 12 18
717 931

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, remunerations
of highest paid, non-director employees fall within Nil to
HK$1,000,000.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiary in the PRC are
members of the state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme
organised by the relevant local government authority in the PRC.
The subsidiary is required to contribute, based on a certain
percentage of the basic salary of its employees, to the retirement
benefit scheme and has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or postretirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme
represent for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

HEZZ-_=FkR=-_F=_=F+=ZA8
=T+ —HLLEE  FEEERFTME
T 78 & N T =% cE1,000,0007 T 2
HEN -

R KR R G &

N B R IR B A B 5 485F 58 # M Q
BETEKINAZBERERKINEEZ
EEEHmAHMUEATRSHE ([BES
EEl]) c mESFE D —BEHBYE
HAAEBE 2 EREBETRKTE - BE
wEesd BEEXEREEBESAKE
BHEBAKRAZS%RETEIHZK - T A
B R A Z EBR A30,000/ T © M at
BEB Z R RE -

ARRRPEMNBRARZEENTEE
D BB ATERE R E
M8z B - MBRARAZERER
ZERFEZETAD LREBKRENG
gt MBRFEFREERI  BEEME
XNEBRRAREHEKRERMN - BX
BB RRENGEAEMERKES M
EEEKRE -
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14.

122

TAXATION — CREDIT/(CHARGE)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since
the Group incurred taxation losses for the year. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the prevailing rates
of tax based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices.

BIE —ER 7 (KR
MRAREFERNBGHEBR - MY
EREBFGBAREE - HiwE
ZERBENBECRERAEH
BRERERATHESE -

2023 2022
—s-= —E-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FHET

Deferred tax % & i 18 12,891 =
Current tax: BHARK 18 -

PRC corporate income tax FREMEMEHR - (164)

12,891 (164)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2023.
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since the
Group incurred taxation losses for the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

PRC corporate income tax charge represents the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax paid or payable during the year. Enterprise Income
Tax has been provided on the estimated assessable profits of
subsidiaries operating in the PRC at 25% (2022: 25%)).

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
prevailing rate of tax based on existing legislation, interpretations
and practices.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

ZFFA=T—HIFE

14. TAXATION — CREDIT/(CHARGE) (Continued) 14, Bi1E — &% 7 (KR) 80
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before income BEARARE R EN B R AR TR B
tax using the statutory rates for the tax jurisdictions in which the AERBEAEBEAE ZBRAEHA
Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled is as follows: EBEMBERAIEERAT -
2023 2022
—EB-=fF —_ZF-—
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FAE T
Loss before taxation bR RS 18 (1,772,763) (245,894)
Tax at the statutory tax rates BETREGTE ZRIE (305,777) (42,139)
Tax effect of income not taxable BERBRBRAZ B2
for tax purpose (82) (8,023)
Tax effect of expense not deductible TAIHBAT oG E
for tax purpose 277,945 32,869
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AERRBEBBIRMBRE 2 12,946
Tax effect of temporary difference ERMERE o NMBYE 40,803 (164)
Utilised tax loss recognised EERzZEEAMRIEEIE - (6593)
Tax for the year KEEFEZTIEA 12,891 (164)
15. DIVIDENDS 15. R B
The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of ARREETEZRBE_ZT_=F
any final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 T A=+ —ALEFERMNEFAHAR
(2022: Nil). B(Z=Z——fF :#\) -

16.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
was based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$1,632,535,000 (2022: HK$162,643,000) and the weighted
average number of 3,788,828,000 (2022: 1,168,519,000 (restated))
ordinary shares in issue during the year. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31 December 2022
for the purposes of calculating basic and diluted loss per share
have been adjusted for capital reorganisation which took place on
29 September 2023.

16.

BRER
BREAREEAF (BE) DER
XA %A AL E 181,632,535,000

B or(Z & - = : 162643000;‘%
) RFARABEBEITEBERMEFY
%5(37888280001&(— T - = F:

1,168,519,000/% (& &%) ) 5t H - ghat
EEREAREEFEENEEZE_T -
F+ZA=+—HIEFEZERRMNE
FHHER T _=FALA=Z+ALAW
BAEHETAE -
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

124

—SEF A= — AR

17. W¥ - BERR®E

Mining Furniture &
structure and Plant and Fixtures  Construction
buildings Machinery  Motor Vehicle in progress Total
RE&ER B
REE BERHE HRERAE ERIR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR FET FET TET
Cost BA&
At 1 January 2022 R-FE-—%—R—H 301,711 486,139 19,905 539,842 1,347,597
Addition wnE 65,407 4,424 879 83,553 154,263
Disposal & - (519) - = (519)
Transfer iR 258,320 137,670 1,660 (392,650) -
Exchange adjustment EXAE (33,347) (42,879) (1,132 (18,557) (95,915)
At 31 December 2022 and - 2 ZZE+tZA=+—-H
1 January 2023 —2-=%—-A—H 587,091 584,835 21,312 212,188 1,405,426
Addition /F & 53 1,852 1,509 9,397 12,811
Disposal & - - 6) = (6)
Transfer [ - _ _ _ _
Exchange adjustment XA (12,883) (12,836) (324) 412 (26,455)
At 31 December 2023 RZFEZ=F+=ZA=1+—H 574,261 573,851 22,491 221,173 1,391,776
Accumulated depreciation and R ERRE
impairment
At 1 January 2022 R-_FE-—%—-F—H 164,671 309,227 16,928 193,936 684,762
Charge for the year FRME 23,466 37,213 912 - 61,591
Written back on disposal & B B - (493) = = (493)
Exchange adjustment X HE (13,809) (25,720) (847) - (40,376)
At 31 December 2022 and ZEZZE+ZA=+-H
1 January 2023 kZEZ=%—-f—H 174,328 320,227 16,993 193,936 705,484
Charge for the year FRMEB 25,855 45,501 2,914 s 74,270
Written back on disposal & B - - 6) - 6)
Impairment loss REBE 20,501 9,427 - 1,591 31,609
Exchange adjustment X E (3,878) (7,088) (231) 1) (11,198)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-=F+=-A=+-H 216,896 368,067 19,670 195,526 800,159
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=Z§+ZA=Zt-H 357,365 205,784 2,821 25,647 591,617
At 31 December 2022 ZEZZF+ZRA=+—H 412,763 264,608 4,319 18,252 699,942
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & % ZFF A=+ —HIFFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 17. 1% - BMER®RHE (&

As at 31 December 2023, mining structure and buildings and plant
and machinery with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$57,268,000 (2022: approximately HK$248,191,000) were
pledged for bank loans.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$496,824,000
(2022: approximately HK$567,783,000) and approximately
HK$94,793,000 (2022: approximately HK$132,200,000) were
allocated to the Molybdenum Mining cash-generating unit
(“Molybdenum Mining CGU”) and trading of chemical products
cash-generating unit (“Chemical Products CGU”) respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group determined the recoverable
amounts of Molybdenum Mining CGU and Chemical Products
CGU based on value-in-use calculation. That calculation used
cash flows projections based on financial budgets as approved by
management covering a 5-year period, and (i) at a discount rate of
16% and 13% (2022: 16% and 14%) for Molybdenum Mining CGU
and Chemical Products CGU respectively and (i) at a growth rate
of 1% and 5% (2022: 2% and 1%) for Molybdenum Mining CGU
and Chemical Products CGU respectively. An impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment of Molybdenum Mining CGU and
Chemical Products CGU of approximately HK$30,818,000 and
HK$791,000 respectively have been provided in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil and Nil).

R_E_=Z%+=-A= +fa W
B4 £ #)57,268,000/8 7T B & &
BEE - BEMMEB(ZZE__F: 48

248,191,000/ 7T) B B HE R LAEIS R 1T
B o
RZEZ=Z=F+ZA=+—8" K
SEYE BERIBZHREMELD
496,824,000 T (= T = = & : &
567,783,000/ JT) & #194,793,000/% T
(ZZ = = 4 : 4182,200,000/ 7T) o
AMSPEEHEBERESEE BN ([HER
CELBEM]) REBELLERREESE
Efi ( HK%DDL@@FE 11J )

RZEZ_=F+=-_A=+—H ' X&
B FAEETEECHEBEREEL
BEURtERReELAEN 2T RE S
B EHAAECRATEREEER] A
WAERTFHRCUBEERIEEONR S
mETER c RO)EBREELEEMRE
ERREEAEM BB XD F16% &
13% (Z T == 16% K 14%) & K (i)
HERCEEASEMRIEERAESEAS
MUERERSFN%KRE5% (ZT = —F
2% B1%) 5t E - ERBEFT_=F
T+ A=+ HLEFEZRAEVBHRE
ARAERSEAEMRIECERESE
EEM2ME BER&EREEIE
5 Bl #730,818,000/% 7T % 791,000 7T (=
TZZZF ERT) o
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18. MINING RIGHTS 18. KIERE
2023 2022
—_E_-= ===
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#& T FET
Costs: B AR
At 1 January n—A—H 3,122,429 3,392,876
Exchange realignment X (68,519) (270,447)
At 31 December ®n+=—A=+—8” 3,053,910 3,122,429
Accumulated amortisation and 2 BERBEEE:
impairment loss:
At 1 January ®n—A—H 2,269,844 2,466,446
Impairment loss VERIEN SR 51,564 =
Exchange realignment E 5 A (49,867) (196,602)
At 31 December ®n+=ZA=+—8” 2,271,541 2,269,844
Carrying amount: REE:
At 31 December w+=-—A=+—8” 782,369 852,585
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18. MINING RIGHTS (Continued) 18. RIEE (@)

Molybdenum Mine

The Group has an exploitation right in respect of a molybdenum
mine located at Xi Ban Cha Gou, Huanglongpu Village, Shimen
Town, Luonan County, Shaanxi Province, the PRC (“Shaanxi
Molybdenum Mine”) issued by Land and Resources Bureau of
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. The exploitation right was allocated to
the Group’s Molybdenum Mining CGU.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group determined the
recoverable amounts of Molybdenum Mining CGU based on value-
in-use calculation. That calculation used cash flows projections
based on financial budgets as approved by management covering
a 5-year period, and at a discount rate of 16% (2022: 16%). An
impairment loss on mining right of Molybdenum Mining CGU
of approximately HK$51,564,000 has been provided in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, Molybdenum Mine with carrying amount
of approximately HK$782,369,000 (2022: HK$852,585,000) were
pledged for bank loans.

$H &
AEEHETERAEE L EREMRMC
RPBERAE RSB APIEEEHNT
R#BZHE ([BREHERE]) &L
HHEE - HDEREIETASEHEESR
SELEMN -

RZEZ=ZFR_ZTE-__F+=A4
=+—H  AEBZRIJFEHEBRTE
ETHBEReELASEM 2T MEESEE -

EBRAEFERTEREEBH LR
ENFHo2MBEER - &R16% (ZF
TITF 1 16%) BRIREMIRESRETEN -
EREBE-_TE-_=F+-_A=+—81t
FEZHREAEUBHRRFTIREBRESESE
B A7 2 B R R (E B 18 £951,564,000%
T(ZEZZF : &) o

RZZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—8 " EE
B #) /782,369,000 7L (=T = = F :
852,585,000/ Jt) &) $H & B & K # LA HR
BRITER -
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19.

128

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

GOODWILL mE
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$°000 HK$’000
FE T FHET

Cost: R

At 1 January mn—A—AH - 13,403
At 31 December R+=—RAR=+—H - 13,403

As at 31 December 2023, the entire amount of goodwill of
Molybdenum Mine CGU was impaired (2022: approximately
HK$13,403,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group conducted impairment review
on goodwill attributable to Molybdenum Mine CGU at the end of the
reporting period by reference to its estimated recoverable amount
which is calculated based on a value-in-use calculation The amount
of approximately HK$13,403,000 goodwill was fully impaired.

The calculation used in the cash flows projections was based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a 5 years
period, and the discount rate of Molybdenum Mine CGU was 16%
(2022: 16%). The recoverable amount is above the carrying amount
of Molybdenum Mine CGU.
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20. PREPAYMENT 20. FEfTRIE
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
HK$’000
FHT

HK$’000
FTER

Note
M =

Prepayment of property, plantand ~ #1% - &= KR & BN FHIE
equipment

Investment deposit

23,122 -

KEZS 1 3,084 =

26,206 S

On 22 November 2023, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (the “Purchaser”), entered into the Equity Transfer
Agreements with two vendors pursuant to which each of vendors
conditionally agreed to sell their respective equity interest of 51%
and 49% of the target company for an aggregate consideration of
RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,101,000) to the
Purchaser.

The consideration for the equity interest of 51% and 49% of the target
company amounts to RMB510,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$562,000) and RMB490,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$539,000)respectively. The consideration shall be satisfied by
cash payment by the Company within 30 days upon completion of
change in business registration in respect of the Equity Transfer.

In-addition to the consideration, the Purchaser had invested
approximately HK$1,982,000 as partial payment for enlarge the share
capital of the target company.

On 4 March 2024, the completion of the equity transfer of the target
company shall be conditional upon the fulfilment and/or waiver (as
the case may be) of conditions precedent on or before 31 January
2024, or such later date as the parties to the Equity Transfer
Agreements may agree. Since such expiry and as additional time is
required to fulfil the conditions precedent for completion of the equity
transfer of the target company, the parties had been in continuous
negotiation on an extended expiry date for such completion, and on
1 March 2024, the Company entered into an extension agreement
with each respective vendor whereby each party agreed to extend
the completion date to 31 May 2024 (or such later date to be further
agreed by the parties).

WIREBERANEREE_—T-m
FREA=+—8 (RTHFE—$H
RS AH) o
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%EEQTAX%@-“WJ% Bt
E%Eﬁﬂﬂ#ﬂ,mm,ﬁﬂj%ﬁ%%
B FT# B A2 R A151% K&49% 8 A% #E -
KB4 # A R #1,000,0007T (4 & »
#91,101,000/ 7T) °

B 1Z A R)51% &49% K IR #E K B o Bl
A A R #510,0007T (48 & 7 49562,000
B IT) & A R #490,000t (& R4
539,000/ 7T) o BB AR A AR #E
RS T E % E BR4308 AR
SHEHE -

BARESN - B IR E 491,982,000
TAEABRBZARREANIBAAK

RZZE-_MFE=AMA -
AT 9&/?%{\*11??:2*@@*
R=+— E?ZH‘THXTEE’“W:;&J
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21.

22.

130

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

INVENTORIES 21. BE

2023 2022
—=s-= ==

HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHE T T
Raw material A # 111,435 66,690
Work in progress £ 8m 2,520 10,281
Inventory items & 17 /& 41,906 194,978
Semi-finished F X @ 3,634 =
159,495 271,949
Accumulated provision Rt #E (3,319) =
156,176 271,949

The cost of inventories recognised as expense during the year in

FARKBEEREBELERBERAS

respect of mining operations and trading of chemical products ST E KA E K #1,441,307,000
were totally approximately HK$1,441,307,000 (2022: approximately B (ZF Z ZF : 491,108,585,000/%8
HK$1,108,585,000). Provision of impairment of approximately L) c BE-ZE-=F+=-RA=+—H
HK$3,319,000 (net of exchange difference) was recognised in profit IEEE REZEBERANBRERENA
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil). 3,319,000 T (EHKRERZHE) (=T
ZZF ) e
TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 22 ERERARERE
2023 2022
—==-= —ET ==
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FH& T
Trade and bill receivables JE U AR R B R R 118,486 11,159
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBBERERB (2,485) (1,691)
116,001 9,468
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, trade receivables from RZBE_=ZFR_ZFT__F+=A
contracts with customers amounted to HK$118,366,000 and Sap— EI == }5 B ZEKER
HK$11,159,000, respectively. 2 Bl £118,366,000/% st K& 11,159,000
JC °
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22. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. EWRAREERE (50

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented
based on dates of delivery of goods.

LT AREBEERRMNAHZ5 0 E KR
REERE DT o

2023 2022

—E=-= —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHE T
0-30 days 0-30H 22,883 9,462
31-60 days 31-60H 52,990 6
61-90 days 61-90H 35,067 -
91-180 days 91-180H 4,610 -
Over 180 days but within one year BI1SORER—FR 451 =
116,001 9,468

The aging of trade and bill receivables which are past due but not
impaired are as follows:

B 3 5016 4 9L 1A 7 B R T T 4 R
m

2023 2022

—E:=-= —E -

HK$°000 HK$’000

FH& T FHE T

Over 180 days #180H 1,646 1,691
1,646 1,691

For the year ended 31 December 2023, trade debtors that were not
impaired nor past due related to customers for whom there was no
recent history of default. Based on experience, management believe
that no impairment loss shall be recognised for trade debtors that
not yet past due as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered recoverable (2022: Nil).

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values of
trade receivables are not materially different from their carrying
value because these amounts have short maturity period on their
inception.

Details of the impairment assessment of trade receivable are set
out in note 36(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

BHE_Z_=ZF+-_A=Z+—HILF
E - TERETESH 2 EKE K
R BEARNBBREEZER
BELR BRAEEEZLELRSE
ANEH - BHESRDEHR R/AIKE - &
EREERADERLEARN ERES
ERERREEE (ZE_2F - &) -

ARAREERR  BUEERRz22FE
HEEmMECALBEERER U
HRZELERELRHAREY -

FEM IR R BER (A F B RN AR B M5
¥R M EE36(0)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

22.

23.

24.

132

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES (Continued)

For the Group’s mining operation, sales of molybdenum
concentrates are largely on cash basis with no credit terms being
granted to customers, except for sizable customers with good
credit history, the Group will allow a credit term not more than 30
days. For the Group’s chemical operation, the Group allow a credit
term of 30 days to 60 days to its customers.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December 2023, included in balance of prepayments,
deposits and other receivables were (i) prepayments for purchase of
inventories of approximately HK$54,390,000 (2022: approximately
HK$68,959,000); and (i) other receivables which indirectly related to
mining operation and chemical trading operation of approximately
HK$12,346,000 (2022: approximately HK$45,332,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment losses of
HK$16,446,000 on other receivable was recognised, taking into
account of ECL on the other receivables. At 31 December 2023,
the accumulated impairment loss on other receivable amounted to
HK$17,599,000 (2022: HK$1,197,000).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22.

23.

24.

BUWERARREE (@)

RAKBEZRBEBME - HEHEB
MREZURSET  ABETEFPHE
MEEHR  EAKEERTHBERY
EELHIAEUEF THIBOAEE
B RAEB2IELBREL A% H

=

BTHEPFIOEOREER -

ANANRE -  BEREMERR

RZFEZ=F+ZA=+—8 ' B
FIE - B RHEMBERRESRPIE)E
H 178 2 T8 4 ZUE #754,390,000% 7T (=

T~ — 4 : 4968,959,0007 7T) ¢ & (i)
HEREEBRCEREE XL EZIEEHE
2 B fth JE IR R 4912,346,000% T (= &

£ 1 #945,332,000 7T)

BE_T_="F+-_A=1+—HLF
B REREMERFINEHRAEES

Cash and bank balances BRe RIRTTEH

Bo®mE - Eytﬁﬁwéuﬁz ﬁ& )R B I
116,446,000 7L - RZTE—_=ZF+ =
A=+—8" ﬁ@ﬁﬁllﬁzmm;%ﬁﬁz@
/&5 18 517,699,000 T (Z T = — &F :
1,197,000/ 7T) °
HeRBEESEEY
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FHET
5,941 11,344

(@ Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range
from 0.01% to 0.35% per annum (2022: 0.01% to 0.35%).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank balances and
cash denominated in RMB amounted to RMB4,118,000
equivalent to HK$4,535,000 (2022: RMB10,069,000 equivalent
to HK$11,284,000). Convention of RMB info foreign currencies
is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.
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@ RUOTEHBESFEMBANENT
0.01%E0.35%+F B (ZE ==
0.01%£0.35%) -°

RZEZ=F+ZA=+—8 ' K&
EUAREFEZRITEHEAZAA
R #4,118,0007T (18 74,535,000/ 7T )
—T % : AR®10,069,0005t (48
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

ZFFA=T—HIFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. A
Number of shares Nominal value
B8 B GRS
Note ‘000 HK$'000
(i F& FTAET
Authorised: ZEE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R-_E-—_F—H—H
and 1 January 2023: —E-_—H#+-A=+—-HBRK
Ordinary shares of HK$0.016 each —ZT-=f—fF—H:
BREECOGEB LT AR 31,250,000 500,000
Share consolidation Bt & B 1) (29,687,500) -
Share sub-division Bz a2 # (i) 23,437,500 =
At 31 December 2023: RZF-_=F+=ZA=+—8:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each BREEE T LB 25,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BITRHE -
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 75" —E--%—fF—H1 "
and 1 January 2023: —E--&#4+-fA=+—-8Bk
Ordinary shares of HK$0.016 each —E-=ZF—fF—H8:
FREEO6E T EEK 23,370,386 373,926
Capital reorganisation BARER () (22,201,867) -
Capital reduction & ANHI R il = (350,556)
Subscription of shares REERH 2 256,410 5,128
Scheme Share issued BE1TE 2R 3 11,086,711 221,735
At 31 December 2023: RZFEZ=F+ZA=+—8:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each BREE0.02E T2 L iE 12,511,640 250,233

Notes:

(1)  Pursuant to an special resolution passed by the shareholders
of the Company at the special general meeting of the

Company held.

(i) Share consolidation (“Share Consolidation”)
every 20 issued and unissued Shares of par value of
HIK$0.016 will be consolidated into 1 Consolidated Share of

par value of HK$0.32 each.

Wi

(1) BREXDABRRPRAEITARFEH
BERELBEBZHIRAER -

) BOE6H (TROEH])
200 & R EH0.016 T2 B
BORKRBETROBE FR/IK
TFREEOIBITLZA FERNL
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Pursuant to an special resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the special general meeting of the Company held.
(Continued)

134

m

(ii)

(il

(iv)

Capital reduction (“Capital Reduction”)

The Capital Reduction was effected immediately upon
the Share Consolidation becoming effective, the par value
of every issued Consolidated Share will be reduced from
HK$0.32 to HK$0.02 by the cancellation of the paid up
capital of the Company to the extent of HK$0.30 on each
issued Consolidated Share, giving rise to a credit balance
of approximately HK$350,555,794.20 on the basis of
1,168,519,314 Consolidated Shares then in issue. The credit
arising therefrom will be applied to set off the accumulated
loss of the Company, and the balance of the credit, if any,
will be transferred to the contributed surplus account of the
Company within the meaning of the Companies Act.

Share sub-division

Immediately following the Capital Reduction becoming
effective, each of the authorised but unissued Consolidated
Shares of HK$0.32 each will be sub-divided into 16 authorised
but unissued New Shares of HK$0.02 each.

Share premium (“Share Premium”)

The amount of HK$3,791,452,301 standing to the credit of the
Share Premium Account be reduced to nil and that the credit
arising therefrom be transferred to the contributed surplus
account of the Company within the meaning of the Companies
Act and will be applied to further set off the accumulated loss
of the Company.

The capital reorganisation was completed on 19 December
2023. Details of which are set out in the Company’s circular
dated 13 June 2023 and announcement dated 21 February
2023, 7 June 2023 and 12 September 2023.
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25. R (#)

() REXAABDBRERRABITARBRH
BRRELBBZFHIRAER - (B)

(ii)

(il

(iv)

BEAEIR (TR A EIR )

REBRMEFERE - BT
BRAER - BREERE BT
A BB 1 B T & R 2 0.3078 T ¥
ARBEHREBRAEITEH -
HMEEREBHTEHBRNOE
8 F0.32% TR L £0.02%8 7T -
RERE#ITM1,168,519,314%
EHBROHE  EXERELS
£ #9350,555,794.20/8 JT > M It
EENERESAREELRD
AIMEREEE  MERBEER
(E) BEBERAREMAT
HARBEHBHE -

B 17 5 &
REBEBRAERERE - K
EE0ETLZEATBKREITE
RO KB TR EE
0.028 T 2 #HRMD

BRHEE (TROEE])
BHaBEEREDERS B
3,791,452,301 B T EI =T -
WHBLELEENERBERES
REEFMATNARAEHA
#HEE - ARE—SLEBEARAQA
R RETEE -

BABEHER=ZZT=Z=F+=A
THhABRER @ #FBHRARQA
HER-_ZT-_=FA+=H
ZHRRHARAHAE T _=F
—AzZ+—H8  ZEZ=ZFRX
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

]

@

Subscription of shares (“Subscription of Shares”)

Pursuant to the Restructuring Agreement, the Investor shall subscribe
for a total of 256,410,256 New Shares for a total subscription price
of HK$40,000,000, representing approximately HK$0.156 per New
Share.

The Subscription of Shares was completed on 29 September 2023.
Details of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated 13 June
2023 and announcement dated 21 February 2023, 7 June 2023,12
September 2023 and 19 September 2023.

Scheme shares issue (“Scheme Share Issue”)

Upon the Scheme becoming effective on 29 September 2023, the
Company will implement the Scheme Shares Issue, under which it is
estimated that the Company will allot and issue, in aggregate, a total
of 11,086,710,827 New Shares where the Creditors will receive 1
New Share for every HK$0.156 in the amount of the Admitted Claims
due to them by the Company in the event all the Admitted Claims
are proved and admitted in full. Where the Admitted Claims are not
proved and admitted in full, the number of Scheme Shares to be
received by each Creditor will be adjusted by dividing the amount of
the Admitted Claim of each Creditor with the total amount of Admitted
Claims under the Scheme, multiplied by the total of 11,086,710,827
New Shares, such that the Creditors will receive such number of New
Shares proportional to their respective Admitted Claims.

25. R (#)

@]

(©)]

tFEERHBERAT 2023 3R

RERGD ([RBERG])
RiFEHEBHE  REEBRBEGHR
256,410,2560% # A% - ,ﬁ@ REEAR
40,000,000 7T (18 & R & & ¥ I’ 4
0.156%7T) °

REROR-_ZT_=FALA=-TANAH
TR HBERAQXFAAHAR-F
TZHERATZHZBHARBEHSR
—ET-_=f-_A=+—RH Z—EF=Z=
FXRXALE - ZEZ=FNAA+Z=H
R_ZB_=ZFhATHBZRE -

STEIRM BT (THERORT])
FER-_TE-_ZFAA-tTABAER
% ARBBEEERMDET

Bt - AR R BEERETEE
11,086,710,827 0% ¥7 I& + i (E4E A #5 1%
ARBERAESNNERTERESE
0.156,%754&%11&%&& ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
BERBEEHER S %&w
WERTEERERXDERRRA

M%L%A%%WWMJ%&@%E
BEBEERANERTEELER
AFrBIIETHERTEEEAEHEN
:./\11086710827ﬂﬁxﬁﬂ§%uﬂ%

LEERABRESENERTER
B EE B REE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

2. EEHEERE

At 1 January 2022
Exchange realignment

R-E-——F—AF—H 257,945
& H (20,561)

At 31 December 2022 and

RZZEZZF+=ZRA=+—H

1 January 2023 F—_T-_=%—HA—8 237,384
Credit to profit or loss FFABEE (12,891)
Exchange realignment P H % (5,195)
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+-A=+—H 219,298

The Group did not have any significant unprovided deferred tax

liabilities at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

RN-ZB-_=F+-_A=+—8 ' K&
EfETCAEARBHERECHEAEG (=
oSl /ﬂ}\i\) °

=
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27. TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES

27. ERERRERE

2023 2022

—BC-=HF —EFE_-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FAxT
0-30 days 0-30H 219,617 4,472
31-60 days 31-60H 15 3,101
61-90 days 61-90H 102,957 55,986
91-180 days 91-180H 14,822 67,672
Over 180 days but within one year BMI1BORER—F R 36,587 155,213
373,998 286,444

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of trade and bill payables approximate to their fair values at the end
of reporting period.

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

ARBAEERR  BUAERARREEN
FREEEARBERRZAFERE -

28. HttEN R RETER

2023 2022
—=== —ET-=
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET F# T
Current liabilities mENAE
— Other payables and accruals (note a) —HMENREEGTER (Fa) 682,241 1,022,009
682,241 1,022,009

(@) As at 31 December 2023, other payables and accruals include
interests payable of approximately HK$320,279,000 (2022:
HK$653,857,000) and amounts due to the minority shareholders
and directors of the Group’s subsidiaries of HK$8,105,000 (2022:
HK$893,000) which are unsecured, interest free and repayable within
one year. The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other payables and accruals approximate to their fair
values at the end of reporting period.

tFEERHBERAT 2023 3R

R—ZB-_=%F+-_A=+—H H
thENRREFEABREEMNTE
#9820,279,000/8 T (= T = = F :
653,857,000/ 7t) - i & i 2N & B K
B R 8RR K E E K IES,105,000
B (ZF = — F : 893,000 7t) &
| EBAEEER—FRMEE -
RAABEZRBEMENRRETB
BrzEmMERERBERRZAFE
HE -
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29.

30.

138

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

RITER K HE A 1E K

2023 2022
—E_-=F -
HK$°000 HK$ OOO
Interest bearing bank loans, STEEEARITERRK
secured and other borrowings HibER

Current portion mE A o 669,415 1,325,375
Non-current portion FERBE D 27,533 16,890
696,948 1,342,265

As at 31 December 20283, the Group’s interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings were carried at effective interest rates from
6.09% to 15% (2022: from 6.09% to 30%) per annum and were
secured by (i) guarantees from corporate companies; (i) pledged
of property, plant and equipment (note 17); and (i) guarantees
from subsidiaries of the Group and the subsidiary’s minority
shareholders.

As at 31 December 2023, certain borrowings of the Group
with principal balance of HK$534,140,000 became default and
repayment on demand under the circumstance. Accordingly, the
borrowings are classified as current liabilities in the consolidated
financial position of the Group.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

30.

=

A—E_=ZF+_A=+—H KXEE
AEBTERREMERZERFER
KN FB6.09%E15%(ZF = = :)|¥
6.09%Z=30%) ' M) ERE ZER
BHZWE BERREME17): &(m)
AEEMNBARENBRAR Z P HER
AR 2 AR o

ﬁ’\\_y__¢+ B=+—8 &x&#
TN % 45 85 55534,140,000 5 7T Y & T 18 5%
REZBERATEHWIREREE - At
ERRAEBGAEUBRAIBERE
afE -

Contract liabilities aHaE

As at 31 December 2023, contract liabilities represent advances
received from customers of approximately HK$116,206,000
(2022: approximately HK$222,963,000). During the year ended
31 December 2023, revenue of HK$118,569,000 (2022:
HK$44,049,000) was recognised, which related to carried-forward
contract liabilities, upon delivery of products.

The Group expects to deliver the goods to satisfy the remaining
performance obligations of these contract liabilities within one year
or less.

The decrease in contract liabilities in the current year was mainly
due to certain of sales order was completed and goods has been
delivered at the end of the reporting date. (2022: The increase in
contract liabilities in the current year was mainly due to certain of
sales order was not completed and goods has been delivered at
the end of the reporting date.)
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EHEaE

2022

HK$OOO

:F/%TE

116,206 222,963
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8 " &4
BE]E AR P WH 2 # 5% 4116,206,000
T (Z 8 = = F  49222,963,000%
T) BEE-_=F+-A=1+—
HItFE HE@508E8E2
I %5118,569,000% T (= & = = F :
44,049,000 7T) ER RN ERFER °

AEEBPHR —FHAAINERIAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & % ZFF A=+ —HIFFE

31. CORPORATE BONDS TEES
2023 2022
—E-=5F —F -

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Principal i - 250,000

Interest payable J& 1~ A1) 8 - 154,188

- 404,188
Upon the maturity date of a convertible bond on 28 December RZE-NE+AZ+ N \NBAIRRKRE
2018, the Group entered into standstill deed in relation to turn the FEHE - AEBRHEAERMNESEBR
convertible bond into a corporate bond with a principal amount BIEEECERERQAAR([EMES

of HK$250,000,000 at a price equal to 100% of its principal
amount to Sfund International Investment Fund Management
Limited (“SFund International”), which is to the best of knowledge,
information and belief of the directors of the Company having made
all reasonable enquires, an independent third party of the Company
(the “Corporate Bond”). The Corporate Bond carrying interest of
10% per annum and mature on 28 September 2019.

The Group did not settle the Corporate Bond upon its maturity
and is subjected to the following interest penalty in addition to the
principal interest rate of 10%:

(i) Penalty interest rate of 15% per annum for the principal
interests of HK$20,000,000 payable commencing on 1 April
2019;

(i) Penalty interest rate of 15% per annum for the outstanding
principal amount of the Corporate Bond payable
commencing on its maturity (i.e. 28 September 2019); and

(i)  Penalty interest rate of 15% per annum for the outstanding
principal interests amounts payable commencing on the
maturity of Corporate Bond (i.e. 28 September 2019).

Sfund International was one of the creditors in the Creditor
Scheme. Due to the success of issuance of Scheme Shares on
29 September 2023, the total amount of HK$250,000,000 and
its interest payable were fully conversion into shares under the
Scheme. Reference is made to the announcement dated 29
September 2023 and the Circular.

Bl (BAA 7@%%&—@Aﬁ§
HMEEN  RERKBEAARAZ
BYBE=ZA)IVEEERRZE A
BARUBERE RS EEI00% M E KB %
]k & % 8 & A K € 58 4£250,000,000
BT ESS ([DEEF]) - X
BERFFNRIRABLIR T —NF
NAZ+NBEH -

AEERIHABLEENEEES
MR A ZBFR10%E1 BN - TRART
FIEBBNEL

0] MR- NFHNA—HHKE
ﬁszﬂémmmW%n&E
FZRI5%AEE B

i BMREIBRB=ZZF-AFH
AZTNRA) BrENZzEEE
HFZABERSBILRFN E15%
HESE R

iy WMRALEGEFIHBA (=-Z=—A
FARA-+NR) HBEERZX
EEXTERE L ERTFFE15%

sEEa .

BEMESBEERILEEATENEREAZ
— o BRFTEBROR =T =_=ZFNA
Z+ B K IhE 1T - 4 %8250,000,000
BTREMFEEREFEZMBERE
Bm - EHRERESMA-_ST-_=F1
AZ+hB®NAMHREZEK
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & %= ZFF A=+ —HIFFE

32. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASES 2. FAEEEREEASG
LIABILITIES
(a) Right-of-use assets (@ EFREEE
Properties Lands Total
/S T @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET THT
Cost: ﬁSZZF :
At 1 January 2022 “2--%—-H—H 101,579 24,226 125,805
Addition ﬁﬁ - 227 227
Termination of lease KIERH (8,067) = (8,067)
Exchange realignment ER R (7,454) (1,937) (9,391)
At 31 December 2022 and RZB-ZZF+ZA=+-HER
at 1 January 2023 86,058 22,516 108,574
Exchange realignment (1,889) (494) (2,383)
At 31 December 2023 84,169 22,022 106,191
Accumulated depreciation 2t E
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_-%—-/F—H 65,641 3,721 69,362
Charge for the year FRR 5,735 453 6,188
Termination of lease BIERY (5,743) = (5,743)
Exchange realignment ERRE (4,940) (311) (5,251)
At 31 December 2022 and RZZZZF+=ZA=+-8K
at 1 January 2023 —E-=%—8—H 60,693 3,863 64,556
Charge for the year FAMEB 5,452 435 5,887
Exchange realignment ER R (1,338) (86) (1,424)
At 31 December 2023 RZB-_=ZF+-A=+—H 64,807 4212 69,019
Accumulated impairment loss i R EEE
At 1 January 2022, —%-z ¢ A—A8 -
31 December 2022 and —E--%+-RA=+-HK
1 January 2023 —EZ=F—-H—H = = =
Impairment loss REER - 149 149
At 31 December 2023 —=%#+-A=+—-H - 149 149
Net carrying amount: BEFE:
At 31 December 2023 R-Z-=Z#+=-A=t+-8 19,362 17,661 37,023
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZF+ZA=+—H 25,365 18,653 44,018
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32. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASES 32.

LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

FRAEEERHEESE @

b) HEAE
At 31 December WARCERDE!=ayo=le
2022
R—ZE -
= H
=+--H

Present value of

Present value of

minimum lease minimum lease

payments payments
BREAESNR BN -ENE
IR E # IR E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FH& T
Within one year —F R 260 236
After one year but within five years —FEBEREER 1,415 1,713
Over five years HiEAFE 5,747 5,876
7,422 7,825

Less: Amount due for settlement within B AR RB A G TR12(E

12 months shown under current AARHENN S8
liabilities (260) (236)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months Il 7 3E 7 &) & & T 1218 A
shown under non-current liabilities BREHEMNN SR 7,162 7,589

The Group leases offices and lands in several places. The
leases typically run for a period of 2 to 44 years. Lease
payments are renegotiated every one to two years to reflect
market rentals. For certain lease, the Group is restricted from
entering into any sub-lease arrangements.

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities of
12.63%.

AREBRETHEHERQE
T o MHE — & F2R44EF
HENRE —EMFETENE
B ARMTSES - RETHE
EmME @ AEBEWERSIET LM
DT o

HERGBEERAWEEEREXR
12.63% -
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32. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASES . FRAKEEREEARES @)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Amount recognised in profit or loss REZRIANEHE
2023 2022
—_E_-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Leases under HKFRS 16 ERAVMBHRELEAEI6HEET
WHEE
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 898 972
For the year ended 31 December 2023, total cash outflow BHE-_ZT-_=Ff+ZA=+—HIHF
in respect of lease recognised in statement of cash flow was E - FERRERERERZEER
approximately HK$1,129,000 (2022: HK$1,186,000). & 48 BB 4 51,129,000 T (= &
— 4 :1,186,0008 L) °
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. FHEALIRS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial BRREEREMBRREMIB FTIKXE
statements, the Group has the following balances and transactions B AEEHEBBEEALTHFEBEUT
with related parties: HEHRRRZ S
(a) Related party transactions (@ BEBEALXRS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group entered into the RBEER - NEBEHBHEEA
following balances with related parties: TFEA NI

Amounts due to related parties

EREBREATRE
2023 2022
—E=-= — =4
HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT FH& T
Amounts due to minority shareholders FEf D8RR FKIA 8,105 869
The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled REBREBEAERAREUER S
in cash. No guarantee has been given or received. BE o Wi THESERIER -
(b) Compensation of key management b) TEEEAB Z RN
personnel
Remuneration for key management personnel, including a0 4R A B 7S ¥R R M sE12 K 13FT
amount paid to the Company’s directors and certain of the HE TETEABZEHEHN (2
highest paid employees, as disclosed in notes 12 and 13 to BN FARBIEERETRASH
the consolidated financial statements is follows: BiifE B 25 IB) ;A -
2023 2022
—EBC-=HF —FE_—
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FAxT
Short-term employee benefits HHEERF 1,532 1,761
Mandatory Provident Fund contribution EEHEATEEHR 12 30
1,544 1,791
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% ZFF A=+ —HIFFE
34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 3. TEFRERSF
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, other than RBEZTE_=ZFRZF-__F+=A
as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, S+ —BLEFER BRZEKEUB
the Group did not have any material non-cash transactions. WMEEMIBOMABEEEIN - AEEL
BEMEAFBRESRS o
35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. ¢RI A
Categories of financial instruments tMIAEDE
2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FH&T
Financial assets MBEE
Trade and bill receivables B BR B iR 116,001 9,468
Other receivables H fib i U 3R 12,346 114,291
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEEY 5,941 11,344
At amortised cost b7 X I AN 134,288 135,103
Financial liabilities MBBE
Trade and bill payables ERNEREEE 373,998 286,444
Other payables and accruals HEmEMNZKEETER 682,241 1,022,009
Corporate bonds TtEESH - 404,188
Bank loans and other borrowings RITE R R H M fE 5K 696,948 1,342,265
Lease liabilities HEBE 7,422 7,825
At amortised cost RSB 1,760,609 3,062,731
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36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s treasury department, including the board of directors

meets periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to manage

and monitor the Group’s exposure to variety of risk associate with

financial instruments which arise from the Group’s operating and

investing activities. Generally, the Group employs conservative

strategies regarding its risk management to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. The

risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk

and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

(a) Market risk

U]

Foreign exchange risk

The business transactions of the Group conducted
during the year were mainly denominated and settled
in either RMB or HK$. The Group currently does not
have hedging policy in respect of the foreign currency
risk. However, management monitors the related
foreign currency risk exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency risk exposure
should the needs arise.

Based on the market condition at end of reporting
period, the Group determined that it is reasonably
possible for RMB to strengthen/weaken by 10%
against HK$ in the coming twelve months (2022:
10%). Hence, 10% are the sensitivity rates used in
the current year when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and based on the
assumption that other variables are held constant. A
positive number below indicates an increase in profit or
equity where RMB strengthens 10% against HKS$. For
a 10% weakening of RMB against HKS$, there would
be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, and
the balances below would be negative.

36. EMEBEEEREEK

AEEBEBHM (REEFY) CHE
mTEE UoWMREIERBER &%
EEBRAEEEERREEBMELS
MIAZHEBARR - —Mm s - &%
ExEERERRDNEESRR - BR
BERABMETRAERE - ZZFERK
BEmERERR (BEEEERR - FER
e Rk M ERER) - EEEREBR KR
Ee Rk -

(@ WmHERERE
iy HSERRK
AEERFRNETZIEBR
FEEUARESETLFE
riEE  c AEEBEKITESR
BN BB 2 EORBUR o A
m BEEEERYEEFHEER
ZHBBINERR - XEER
WEREHRERIINERR -

\ﬁiﬂiﬁZW%*x
RAEANRE X A 4
m%x+_lﬂﬂ@/k@
10% (ZEB =4 : 10%) °
it - AFERETEEEA
8 A B BE =R 51 BE & B B AT B
AZ®ERER1I0% » REE
BEYERERSHE
B2 AEFE o WEHSRE
DT BIEAINE BB AL 2 K
EREKER  BREREME
RERTE - THEHHKT
EE ARM B THEI%
BaflaERszEgm- g
ARBHBTEMEI0O% @ &
M EadaX g
EHRE @ MTIIEHRKREE
5 -
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36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)
()  Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

3. BREEBERBE #)

(@) ™% E R (@)
) HSNERBR (M)

2023 2022
—E-=H T

HK$’000 HK$’000

F&E T FH&T

Profit or loss' i kB R 25,728 21,864

Equity? 1 22 194,336 176,329

Notes: M5

(1) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding (1) EZERABRFEHKRFNU

on receivable and payable denominated in RMB at the
end of the reporting period.

) This is mainly attributable to the reserves which are
denominated in RMB included in equity at the end of
the reporting period.

) In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the
reporting period does not reflect the exposure during
the year.
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36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to interest
rate risk, as the Group has no financial assets and
liabilities of material amounts with floating interest rate
except for bank borrowings. The sensitivity analysis
below have been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for bank borrowings at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis points increase or decrease in interest rate is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2022: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 December 2023 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$628,000 (2022: approximately
HK$662,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
borrowings. Changes in interest rates have no impact
on other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Other price risk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not exposed
to equity price risks as the Group did not have any
equity investments at the end of the reporting period.

36. BREEBERBE #)

(@ MmHER (&)

(ii)

(iii)

tFEERHBERAT 2023 3R

A = @ B

MR A EERRITERINL
BEARUBZIEMBEE
RAE - HABEEHEKRF
TR o TXAREBRED
T T5AR 1B S B R SR 1T 18 5K
ZHMNEXRABETE - BESMN
B EERAHmSEHRE AR
BEZEMIASHENES
BREE - MEBEEAER
1 7 BB A & = B R o B
RAM X250 % F 7% » 7%
RERBHMERAEHRAZ
BB ZFME -

fird F = 7+ B501E 26 F (=
T -F 0B F) M
FMEHEMAZ®HFTZ
AEBREBEE-_ZS=-_=F
+ZA=Z+-—BLFEZKE
e BB R 28 4
628,000 T (=T = =

#1662,000/% 7T) ° A B &

FERAEAEBEEF S MG
RZFERE - MEEFHT
BXYERE T _=F1+=
A=+—HBLEFEZEME
HamE (ZTEZ—F &) -

H B 4% B
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—
B BRASEERFEHK
WEAMBRARIEE - B =
EHERAEBRRR -
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36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

148

POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Trade receivables

Credit risk on trade receivable related to mining operation
is minimal because most of the transactions were made on
cash basis with no credit term given to its customers, except
for sizable customers and with good credit history with the
Group. The Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance in respect of trade
receivables related to chemical operation at lifetime ECL. The
Group determines the ECL on debtors by using a provision
matrix, grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
by reference to past default experience and current past due
exposure of the debtors.

In respect of trade receivables from chemical operation,
individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customers as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customers operate.
Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial
condition of trade customers from chemical operation. Trade
receivables are due within 30 to 60 days from the date of
billing. Normally, the Group received certain sales deposits
from customers of chemical operation prior to delivery.
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36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Based on individual assessment for major customers and
portfolio assessment for other customers by the management
of the Group, the management has closely monitored the
credit qualities and the collectability of the trade receivables
and considered that the expected credit risks of them are
close to zero.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, for debtors
that are assessed collectively, the Group uses debtors’
past due status to assess the impairment for its customers
because these customers consist of a large number of
customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed collectively based on provision matrix:

Average loss rate

FHERE

(b)

Gross carrying amounts

AREE

PAPA]
===

— ==

HK$'000
TER

36. EREEEERBEE #)

EERKE (&)

U BE 2 ()
BEFAEEEREEY ISR
THERNTE  URHE#wEE
EITHAATE  TRECHY
EREWNEZNEEEERANK
M2 TRAEBEHEZEE
RITTE o

ERAEBEEERBREEN — &
7 BLER MG R AR KM
o AKBEEAERRERNES
MAFHEEREPHREXRF A
RREEFPERBARRER R
MAEBEF  REFPREASNRK
RXNAAEIHHREANGENTE
ABERKRE -

TREH®KEBASERRNEK
EREERBRNER - FHEEH
BB REREREG

Loss allowance

BREA
2022 2023 2022
“ECCF i —E__F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
il i D

Current S 0.72% 116,840 9,468 839 =
Over 180 days past due B HEB180H 100% 100% 1,646 1,691 1,646 1,691
118,486 11,159 2,485 1,691
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36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

3. BREEBERBE #)

(b) EERE |

150

Trade receivables (Continued)

The expected loss rate are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement of lifetime ECL for
trade receivables under the simplified approach:

FEW R ()
%%%ETEEFfW% H 78
HERMEBEETEREOETM G
RH . YRBEHEBEKAR
%ﬁ%TﬁﬂWw%Eéﬂﬁ
X -BEETHRAOER

VA HE (R A R %5 TE 8 UK Bk X mmm
BRREFER -

TRBTREBEBCEAFTENE
WHEREHEREEBRENES !

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
HEHREERE
(BiEERE)
HK$’000
FAxT
As at 1 January 2022 RZTEZ=ZF—H—H 1,151
Impairment loss recognised, net EHERBAEBSEFE 640
Exchange adjustments P& N B (100)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZEZF+=-A=+—8BK
—E-=%—HF—H 1,691
Impairment loss recognised, net BRI EREEFE 832
Exchange adjustments M X B (38)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=%+=-HA=+—H 2,485
Concentration of credit risk EPEERR

The Group has no concentration of credit risk of the total
trade receivables which were due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers in both years.

Other receivables

The Group uses past due information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
Based on the historical default rate, repayment history
and forecast of future condition on economy and debtors,
the directors considered the ECL for other receivables is
significant for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables (Continued)
The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances
that has been recognised for other receivables:

36. BMEEBEZERBEK (#)

b) FEERR (@
Bt PE W R ()
DEL L RS
BEEZHE

At 1 January 2022
Impairment loss reversed, net
Exchange adjustments

R-ZE-_—_F—HF—H 1,387
B D R EE B8R (98)
& H % (92)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023

RZZE-_—F+=-_A=+—8BX

—E-=%—HF—H 1,197
Impairment loss reversed, net B E R EBEFE 16,446
Exchange adjustments e & A 2 (44)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEBE-_=ZF+=-_A=+—H 17,599
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRESEEY

Credit risk on cash and bank balances is mitigated as
counterparties are banks or financial institutions with high
credit rating which is issued by some international external
rating agencies.

HREFTRES TERINEF
ARBETEEEFIRZIBITX
TREE AR RRITER
ZEERBRBURE -
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36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

3. BREEBERBE #)

) RBEEZER

152

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term. The Group has net current liabilities of approximately
HK$1,520,388,000 (2022: approximately HK$2,854,163,000)
at 31 December 2023. In the opinion of directors, the
Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is limited as (i) the Board
is negotiating with several independent parties in relation to
proceed subscription of shares. The Directors hold a positive
and encouraging opinion of ongoing negotiations with these
parties regarding the potential subscription of shares; and
(i) the Group’s mining operation will be resumed in 2024
after obtaining all the necessary approval certificate from the
PRC’s authorities which will generate positive cash flow and
that will improve the overall liquidity position of the Group.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at each of end of reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payment computed using contractual rate or, if floating based
on current rates at end of reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group may be required to pay:

2023

Weighted ~ On demand or

REBZHEATHEZHER

BB XK  BREBTVESH
. BNEHUEREHZAD
BeER W-_ZE-_=%+_AH
=t+—H  AEEZRBHEEF
% #) /1,520,388,00008 T (= &
© #92,854,163,0005% 7T)

EERR8 AEBEBZRDE
cRBRER  REARNEESIE

HYEBIYIALIHRBRNER
EITHER EFHREZFAL
Eﬁ%&ﬂxfnﬁ%%%Lﬂﬁ%?ﬂ%

RIEEHEE : RHFESS
%%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ’ﬂﬁt&%%?ﬁ
AEEMNRBEXBER _FT -0
FRE - HEELLERER A

REAEBENERBRBHESMN

TRFAVNAEERTEYHAE
REFEMRZEHBANINHB
o TREBFTOARMBERERE
(BRBATHNE - HWEZFR

il

AR BERARZERNMEFE
ZHMBEXH) RAKBEARETE

MRz EFHBMEH

Total Carrying amount

average less than 3 months to undiscounted at 31 December

interest rate Tmonth  1-3months Tyear  Over1years cash flows 2023

i Jmt 2

=

EERe -fiR%E AERRS =1-H

nEYHRZE  R-fiAR =i BB-F REAE REE

HK$'000. HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$ 000 HKS'000

% T#n TR TEn T#n TR T#n

Trade and bil payalles ERERRER NARER 29617 15 17,719 36,587 373,008 373,098
Other payables and accruals ﬁﬁﬂrﬁ FREHER NARER 682,241 - - - 682,241 662,241
Bank loans and other borowings BOERREMER 191 570916 1,276 102374 39,011 351 696,948
Lease lbilties HEaE 12 2 74 193 9,239 9,530 7422
1472,798 89 220,346 84,837 1,779,346 1,760,609

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2023



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —F = =F+ - H=+—HIFE

36. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. ABEEEERBEX (80
POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) c) "RBESRAR (®)
2022 —E=-=
Weighted ~ On demand or Total Carrying amount
average less than 3months to undiscounted at 31 December
interest rate Tmonth  1-3months Tyear  Over1years cash flows 2022
RZE-=
t=8
EEXI —fARZ iRz AURRE =t-H
MEFHHNE  R-EAR =fiA -  HBB-Ff B4R RHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TR Tk T TR Tk THT
Trade and bil payables L RETVES NATEH 4472 3,101 123658 165,213 286,444 286,444
Other payables and accruals EHERARENER  NATEE 1022000 - - - 1022000 1022009
Bank loans and other borowings R ATEHREME R 19 1220115 - 131,865 23308 1365130 1,342,265
Corporate bond tEEF 10 404,188 - - - 404,188 404,188
Lease lidiities HERE 12 2 61 1l 9520 9772 7825
2,669,804 3,162 256,094 188,041 3084543 3,062,731
(d) Fair value of financial instruments d EMIAEZAFE
The directors of the Company consider the fair value of RARAREERE  AEBUMKE
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are not materially ENBBEZAFEHERNGEY
different from their carrying amounts as stated in the BARRBFRAZY] 2 RHEELE
consolidated statement of financial position. BERER o
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 37. EXER

37.

Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of

the Company. The primary objectives of the Group’s capital

management are:

(@)

To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

To provide capital for the purpose of the strengthening the
Group’s risk management capability.

BABRARAESFTBEARGEZE
@ AREEAERZIEERR

@ WMEAKEAFKEKLE  HER
BREHE®R  REGEREA
ABIEF2S

b XFHAREREERER: &

C REBAUMBAEEZARE
Haeh o
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37.

154

ZFEFA=T—HIEFE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditures, and projected strategic investment opportunities. The
Group has not adopted any formal dividend policy.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s total capital
comprises all components of equity and net debt includes bank
loans and other borrowings, trade and bill payables, other payables
and accruals and corporate bond, less cash and cash equivalents.

The Group’s gearing ratio at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was as

37.

EXREE ()
AEEBRBETHRTREEHLERSE
B BREAEBLIBRRERIRESRE
KFE - WA RAEBZRKERE K
REXRM = ~ BB KRB AT G
HEERERE - Bt EAHAZIN
REFRBERERS - AEBTEH
MAEMEXRSBE -

AEBMNBERBRALE (MEEFR
BRIAREARINER FH) BERERRR -
$'§IZ @;ﬁ$’7eﬁﬁ”ﬁ%ﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁ

C MABEEFRRNESRTERRAE

@Fﬁ~%ﬁ%m&i%‘ﬁMEﬁ
FEEAERBURGCEGS - 1IKRR
e RBESEEYD -

AEBR-ZE-_ZFR_ZTE-_—_F+=

follows: AR=t—HZEXRBBELEMOT :

2022
—E_-=F -

HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Debts =k 1,876,815 3,285,694
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W BEEMREEED (5,941) (11,344)
Net debts BEFH 1,870,874 3,274,350
Equity 1w (337,166) (1,506,078)
Gearing ratio BEBBELE N/AFiE A N/A i A

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2023



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e TR RR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — & —

38.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

ZFFA=T—HIFE

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities

can be classified as follows:

38.

REERERETHNEEBE
B

MEZDRELAREEYHR

gofEm

At 1 January 2022 i S el = 1,399,387 322,488 568,873 8,729 388,048 2,687,525
Cash-flows: Beng:
— proceeds —FBHE 41,755 72,138 = = = 113,893
— repayment —EBH (25,083) (4,749) = (1,186) - (30,988)
— interest paid —BffE - - (8,759 - = (8759
Non-cash: FRE
— interest expenses —FBHX - - 122918 972 16,140 140,030
— exchange difference —EREE (73,824) (21,725) (29,175) (690) - (125,414)
At31December 2022and  MZTZZF+=7
1 January 2023 = 'I' —H
“EZ=F-f-

El 1,342,265 368,152 653,857 7,825 404,188 2,776,287
Cash-flows: Reme:
— proceeds —FBRE 97,764 56,535 - - - 154,299
— repayment —BR (91,512) - - (1,129) - (92,641)
— interest paid —BRFE - - (9,295) - - (9,295)
Non-cash: FRE
— interest expenses —FIRRAX - - 128,448 898 2,847 132,193
— reclassify -B¥7E 25,524 (27,024) (1,643) - - (3,143)
— conversion into shares -E0akH (659,191) (28,700) (443,694) - (407,035) (1,538,620)
— exchange difference —ELEE (17,902) (7,001) (7,394) (172) - (32,469)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=Z%+ZA

=+-H 696,948 361,962 320,279 7,422 - 1,386,611
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

156

39. A7) B IR K AR

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—ECZ=HF —F-=
T = A=+ —H [l
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTET FAET
ASSETS EE
Non-Current Assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries P B AR ZHER - -
Current Assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BRRE - Ee kEBEYK 1,065 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEEY - 38
1,065 38
Total Assets EEHE 1,065 38
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B #HE
Share capital & AR 250,233 373,926
Reserves & (353,430) (1,745,716)
Total Equity R (103,197) (1,371,790)
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

SEF= A+ HUFE

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

39. A AMBMRRERFEER @)

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
= :_$ -
+T=ZA=t+-— +-A=+—8
HK$°000 HK$’000
TER FH T
LIABILITIES =R
Current Liabilities REBEE
Corporate bonds TEREF - 404,187
Other payables and accruals H e R & R EJr -4z 11,884 48,411
Amount due to subsidiaries FERT B A &) 82,290 82,290
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERRE ‘rlﬂ Fai = 10,088 836,940
104,262 1,371,828
Total Liabilities =Rft 104,262 1,371,828
Total Equity and Liabilities BEREELAE 1,065 38
Net Current Liabilities REBEEFHE (103,197) (1,371,790)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities EEHERABER (103,197) (1,371,790)
Net Liabilities EEFE (103,197) (1,371,790)

The financial statements of the Company were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2024

and signed on its behalf by:

Yang Ying Min

BER
Director

BEF

ARRMBHRRBLEEFEN _T _MF
=RA=+—H Ht&&&%?ﬁé‘ © I
THAETREFEE

Qian Yi Dong
2 — R
Director

BFE
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

39. ADTFMBMRKEER ()

At 1 January 2022 W-B--£-F-A 37396 3761932 115,615 95 BETTT) (1324809)
Loss for the year FEEER - - - - (46,987) (46,987)
At 31 December 2022 R-B--#+-R=1+-A

andat 1 January 2023 R-E-=4£-8-f 373926 3,761,992 115,615 995 (5624258 (1,371,790)
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - (1653959  (1,653,952)
Capital reduction RAHR (350556) (3,761,932 4,112,488 - - -
Subscription of shares AERA 5,128 34,872 - - - 40,000
Scheme Share Issuance HELSERG] 2173 2,660,810 - - - 2882545
At 31 December 2023 R-F-Zf+-f=+-A 20233 2695682 4,228,103 995 (72782100 (103197)
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40.

PRINCIPALS SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

4. T ENBLQF

ARBETEMBARZHBMOT

principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.

Note: The Group exercise control over Da Qin Jia Mining as they are eligible

to appoint the sole director of Da Qin Jia Mining.

follows:
Place of incorporation/  Registered capital/ Percentage of equity interests
Name of subsidiary establishment issued capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
KWEARER ELLEAYE AR AMER/ERTRA ARABERAEEE DL TEEH
Direct Indirect
EH k3
Sun Man Tai International (B.V.I.) Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary HK$274,051 100% - Investment holding
RAERRES L@k 0515 T REAZR
Golden Finance Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
EERBARAA B £ ##1R2,000000/% 7T REBR
Shanghai Yuan Bei Trading Limited PRC Registered capital = 100%  Investment holding
RMB30,000,000
EBRXEFERAR M HMER REBR
AR 30,000,007
Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiulong Kuangye - PRC Registered capital = 65%  Exploration and exploitation
Company Limited RMB90,000,000 of molybdenum mines,
(“Jiulong Kuangye”) sales of molybdenum
concentrates
RELERAENERRARAA M HMER BRRARARRIEE
(ThER%)) AR #90,000,0007 HEH
Wealth Pioneer Group Limited BVI Ordinary USD50,000 = 65%  Investment holding
ERRAES £ & MR50,000% 7T REBR
Luo Nan Xian Da Qin Jia Mining Company PRC Registered capital - 39%  Exploration and exploitation of
Limited (‘Da Qin Jia Mining’) (note) RMB100,000,000 potassium feldspar mine,
and sale of potassium
feldspar
REEAZARERLA (RZHAR]) +8 HMER BRRARARABR
(BE) A K #100,000,0007 HERRA
ZHROHMHREERAT PRC Registered capital = 51%  Research and development,
(“Anhui Tongxin") RMB200,000,000 sales of chemical
products
ZHRLIMHRRARAR mE HER B RERBEECER
([ZBADL]) AR 200,000,000
The above list contains only particulars of subsidiaries which Al EEEHNTEZTERAETBNE

B BREFBEBENHBARFSE -
M : ARAEEEERZEARRHED
M—EE ELHARRMETEE
4 -
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41. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 41.
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Group that has material non-controlling interests as at 31

ERFERES
RZZE-_=Z=F+=-_A=+—8 " 4§
BAEREZSZAEEFZ2EHREN

December 2023: BRAFBERINET
Proportion of ownership
interests and voting rights held Loss allocated to non- Accumulated of non-
Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation by non-controlling interests controlling interests controlling interests
FEREERACEEAR
WEARAR AL 4 #REZEL A IREFERERZER FEREGZRR
2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“E-oCF et T —F Eebdmielol T —fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THEL TER THET
Jiulong Kuangye PRC 35% 35% (54,188) (8,316) (129,995) (73,321)
nERE hE
Da Qin Jia Mining PRC 61% 61% (70) (57) 212,416 207,347
ARME hE
Anhui Tongxin PRC 49% 49% (73,079) (75,042) (379,615) (313,605)
ZHREL hE
(127,337) (83,415) (297,194) (179,579)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations as at 31 December 2023.

TXEHINABEERNFEZEEENAKE
EMBRARAIZHBENBER - UTH
EHBERRBR_Z_=6+_A
ST HAEEABHENZER -
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41. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 41.
(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of financial
position of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining

EXRFERES (80

hERER  KEHBRZEHE
DR-ZIB-Z=F+=-H=+—

and Anhui Tongxin as at 31 December 2023

AZHEFREUHRRER

Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
NEREE K& R ZHE =i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FTET FER FTET FTET
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,283,132 - 112,454 1,395,586
Current assets MEEE 66,749 264 272,010 339,023
Total assets BEE 1,349,881 264 384,464 1,734,609
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (253,993) - - (253,993)
Current liabilities mE B E (980,979) (436,505)  (1,122,271)  (2,539,755)
Total liabilities BEE (1,234,972) (436,505)  (1,122,271)  (2,793,748)
Equity 55 114,909 (436,241) (737,807)  (1,059,139)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R (129,995) 212,416 (379,615) (297,194)

Summarised consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of Jiulong
Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and Anhui Tongxin
for the year ended 31 December 2023

NEWE - ARBBRER
AORBE-B==%+=5
SH-ALEECRESAR
3R H A2 R R

Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
ET o)) Mining Tongxin Total
NERE K& TR =
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET TERT TET
Revenue N - - 1,533,714 1,533,714
Loss before income tax BTSRRI E 1B (167,714) (194) (149,140) (317,048)
Taxation HIE 12,891 - - 12,891
Loss for the year KEFEIE (154,823) (194) (149,140) (304,157)
Loss attributable to Non-controlling  3F % % 1 25 & 1 &5 18
interests (54,188) (70) (73,079) (127,337)

tFEERHBERAT 2023 F3R
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41. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS M., EXFERER (@)
(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of cash NEEE  KREFHBERZR
flow of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and BORBE-_FT_=F+=A
Anhui Tongxin for the year ended 31 December ES+-HLEEZRERESR
2023 EHRER

Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
NBE TR P 3 2L | ZRE D & &t

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERx TERT TERT TER

Net cash generated from operating 4% & & B Ff 15

activities ReFHE 17,639 1,334 (24,226) (5,253)
Net cash used in investing HEESMA

activities HEF8 (1,398) - (2,016) (3,414)
Net cash (used in)/generated from @& &S (FFH) /

financing activities FiigR& 558 (11,300) - 12 (11,288)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash RekBEEEY

and cash equivalent CRi ) /g 4,941 1,334 (26,230) (19,955)
Cash and bank balance FYIRe RIBITHEH

at beginning of the year 6,205 267 4,801 11,273
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEEXREBHTE

changes, net F R (7,563) (1,338) 22,115 13,214
Cash and bank balances FRZEER

at end of the year IRITH % 3,583 263 686 4,532
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s TXHINEBERFEEREZHNARE
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is set out EMBRAAICHENBER - LTH
below. The summarised financial information below represents ZMBERRBMR_ZE_=F+=A
amounts before intragroup eliminations as at 31 December 2023. =ST—BEERIEHEAI 2SR -
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41. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 41.

(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of financial
position of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining

EXRFERES (80

NEWE - KEDWR R HA
DR-B-=F+=A=+-

and Anhui Tongxin as at 31 December 2022 A2REAESHERREE
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui

Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
NEREZE A& i Z R D A&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FH T T T
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,424,714 = 150,806 1,575,520
Current assets BN A E 76,869 333 326,967 404,169
Total assets BmEE 1,501,583 333 477,773 1,979,689
Non-current liabilities FREBERE (261,863) = = (261,863)
Current liabilities mEEE (956,526) (384,367)  (1,080,867)  (2,421,760)
Total liabilities BwaE (1,218,389) (384,367)  (1,080,867)  (2,683,623)
Equity W= 283,194 (384,034) (603,094) (703,934)
Non-controlling interests FE 1 R (73,321) 207,347 (313,605) (179,579)

Summarised consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of Jiulong
Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and Anhui Tongxin

NERE - KEHABREZE
BORBE-E-_-_F+=A
ST-HEFEZRHERSRE

for the year ended 31 December 2022 mRkEMEZEKER
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
NEBEE A& R Z @R L A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T FET FHET
Revenue WA 221,332 - 1,074,334 1,295,666
Loss before income tax BRATISTLATE B (23,596) (93) (153,148) (176,837)
Taxation T 18 (164) - - (164)
Loss for the year KEEERE (23,760) (93) (153,148) (177,001)
Loss attributable to Non-controlling 3F 15 A% # 25 & 5 & 18
interests (8,316) (57) (75,042) (83,415)
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41.

42.

164

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of cash
flow of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and
Anhui Tongxin for the year ended 31 December

41.

ERFERES ()

hWEBE  AEFHBERZH
BUORBE-—ZFE-_—_F+=A
=S+-HLEFEZREZER

2022 ERER
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
BREX A& & 2 R 0 A&t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET T T
Net cash generated from operating #% & /& ) BT 13
activities ReFE 70,663 63 3,839 74,565
Net cash used in investing HEEEMA
activities REFR (86,187) - (2,970) (89,157)
Net cash (used in)/generated from B & EH (FTH)
financing activities FiigR & 558 (17,400) - 12 (17,388)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash REeERREEEY
and cash equivalent CRA) /#F5E (32,924) 63 881 (31,980)
Cash and bank balance FMHRe RETER
at beginning of the year 16,147 220 4,265 20,632
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEEXREBHTE -
changes, net F 8 22,082 (18) (345) 22,619
Cash and bank balances FRzZBEK
at end of the year R1T 4 84 6,205 265 4,801 11,271
EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 42. REMREER
RZZT-—MFE—-—A+hB - LE®E

On 19 January 2024, /& 8% i & % & 12 A R 2 7], an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered an equity transfer
agreement with Independent third party to transfer 51% of equity
interest of # 1L ™ &1 B F & R & ¥ B R 2 7, a company
established in the PRC at nil consideration. The transfer was
completed on 28 March 2024. The principal activities of {3 |1 T 8] &
&R KA R A 7 is engaged in the research and development
and sales of: non-ferrous metals, steel, mineral products, hardware,

building materials, plastic products, and auto parts; processing of
copper and steel; import and export of goods, and import and export

of technology.

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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42. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued) 42. 3R &£ E1H (&)

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of WEBERRRANEERAR
acquisition
Net liabilities recogniseq: EEREEFE -
HK$’000
FHET
Cash and bank balance Re RIBITES 5,700
Other receivables H i fE UK 1,288
Contract liabilities AHEE (4,003)
Borrowings B (6,441)
Other payables H i FE (20)
(2,476)
As at the date of this report, the fair value assessments of the HEAREAH  #LTAENER
assets acquired and liabilities assumed of f 1L 71 81 & & & J& & RMEERARMKBEERAEERY
A BR A &) have not yet been completed. The relevant fair values AEFEFHEHRTEX - TRBEE
of the net assets/liabilities acquired has been determined on a BEFENHBAFENRERET -

provisional basis.

Non-controlling interests FEERER
Non-controlling interests in # LU T &l 8 7 &R & &K B R 2 A BILTAEFNEREEER R A IEE
are measured by reference to the fair value of the non-controlling EmLZREZEAFLTAENER
interests/the proportionate share of recognised amounts of net MEBERARFEREZHAFE T
identifiable assets/liabilities of # 1L 1 8] & | & R & £ B R A A BAEE  ABFECHERSENLL
at the date of acquisition. METE -
Goodwill arising on acquisition KBELENEE

HK$'000

THAT
Net cash inflow on acquisition of WEFHLTAERNERMEER
BLTAENEREEERAA ARMBESRAFE

Cash and cash equivalents balances acquired TR ¢ RIS EEDE#H 5,700
Net liabilities BEFHE 2,476
Less: Non-controlling interest B FETE R MR (1,213)
Goodwill S 1,263
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43. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 43. #EZRE BB HR K
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and REMBERERR_ZE-_MNF=A=+—
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2024. AEESEet e RERETE -
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M ERBME

RESULTS

E

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+-HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E_= —E-= —E-—F ZEBE-FTE Z—ZE—hE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAL FAT FHT FHBT
(Represented)
(BE7)
Continuing operations BFRECEER
Revenue 0 &= 1,533,714 1,295,666 1,350,367 650,915 839,588
Loss from operations KB (1,640,570) (105,864) (158,893) (3,178,476) (873,161)
Finance costs BE KA (132,193) (140,030) (301,194) (323,098) (284,571)
Loss before tax BRELRIEE (1,772,763) (245,894) (460,087) (3,501,574) (1,157,732)
Taxation 18 12,891 (164) ) (179) 13,362
Loss for the year from AEEREREED
continuing operations E#E (1,759,872) (246,058) (460,096) (3,501,753) (1,144,370)
Discontinued operations CRIEEEEHK
Gain/(Loss) for the year from A& E B4 & &
discontinued operations EBWE (BE) - - 3,339 (861) (72,203)
Loss for the year KEEERE (1,759,872) (246,058) (456,757) (3,502,614) (1,216,573)

tFEERHBERAT 2023 3R
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HBERBE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE

2023

—E-=F

HK$’000

THERT
Total Assets BERE 1,758,947 2,017,000 2,117,157 2,054,790 5,160,877
Total Liabilities BEEE (2,096,113) (3,523,078) (3,386,005) (2,867,785) (2,497,072)
(337,166) (1,506,078) (1,268,848) (812,995) 2,663,805

Equity attributable to: JEfhE

Owners of the Company ARAEBA (39,972) (1,326,499) (1,140,732 (800,347) 1,754,125
Non-controlling interests FERER (297,194) (179,579) (128,116) (12,648) 909,680
(337,166) (1,506,078) (1,268,848) (812,995) 2,663,805
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